การศึกษาสภาวะดีเอ็นเอเมทิลเลชั่นของส่วนเบสซ้ำชนิด ไลด์1, อลู, เอชอีอาร์วี-อี และ เอชอีอาร์วี-เค ในเซลล์นิวโตรฟิลของผู้ป่วยโรคเอสเอลอีและผู้มีสุขภาพดี

นายปรเมษฐ์ พรหมณเรศ

วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิทยาศาสตรมหาบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาวิทยาศาสตร์การแพทย์ คณะแพทยศาสตร์ จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ปีการศึกษา 2555 ลิขสิทธิ์ของจุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

บทคัดย่อและแฟ้มข้อมูลฉบับเต็มของวิทยานิพนธ์ตั้งแต่ปีการศึกษา 2554 ที่ให้บริการในคลังปัญญาจุฬาฯ (CUIR) เป็นแฟ้มข้อมูลของนิสิตเจ้าของวิทยานิพนธ์ที่ส่งผ่านทางบัณฑิตวิทยาลัย

The abstract and full text of theses from the academic year 2011 in Chulalongkorn University Intellectual Repository(CUIR) are the thesis authors' files submitted through the Graduate School.

THE STUDY OF DNA METHYLATION STATUS OF THE INTERSPERSED REPETITIVE SEQUENCES TYPE LINE-1, ALU, HERV-E AND HERV-K IN NEUTROPHIL OF SYSTEMIC LUPUS ERYTHEMATOSUS PATIENTS AND HEALTHY CONTROLS

Mr. Paramate Promnarate

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science Program in Medical Science Faculty of Medicine Chulalongkorn University Academic Year 2012 Copyright of Chulalongkorn University

Thesis Title	The study of DNA methylation status of the interspersed	
	repetitive sequences type LINE-1, ALU, HERV-E and	
	HERV-K in neutrophil of systemic lupus erythematosus	
	patients and healthy controls	
Ву	Mr. Paramate Promnarate	
Field of Study	Medical Sciences	
Thesis Advisor	Associate Professor Nattiya Hirankarn, M.D., Ph.D.	

Accepted by the Faculty of Medicine, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Master's Degree

......Dean of the Faculty of Medicine (Associate Professor Sophon Napathorn, M.D.)

THESIS COMMITTEE

Chairman

(Professor Apiwat Mutirangura, M.D., Ph.D)

\_\_\_\_\_Thesis Advisor

(Associate Professor Nattiya Hirankarn, M.D., Ph.D.)

Examiner

(Associate Professor Yingyos Avihingsanon, M.D.)

External Examiner

(Assistant Professor Nakarin Kitkumthorn, D.D.S., Ph.D.)

ปรเมษฐ์ พรหมณเรศ : การศึกษาสภาวะดีเอ็นเอเมทิลเลชั่นของส่วนเบสซ้ำชนิดไลด์1, อลู, เอชอีอาร์วี-อี และเอชอีอาร์วี-เค ในเซลล์นิวโตรฟิลของผู้ป่วยเอสเอลอีและผู้มีสุขภาพดี (The study of DNA methylation status of the interspersed repetitive sequences type LINE-1, ALU, HERV-E AND HERV-K in neutrophil of systemic lupus erythematosus patients and healthy controls) อ.ที่ปรึกษาวิทยานิพนธ์หลัก : รศ.พญ. ดร.ณัฏฐิยา หิรัญกาญจน์, 117 หน้า.

้สาเหตที่แท้จริงของการเกิดโรคเอสเอลอียังคงคลมเครือ จากรายงานหลายฉบับเชื่อว่าภาวะเหนือพันธกรรม น่าจะมีบทบาทสำคัญ ที่อาจก่อให้เกิดโรคเอสเอลอี หนึ่งในกลไกสำคัญของภาวะเหนือพันธุกรรม คือ ดีเอ็นเอเมทิลเลชั่น ซึ่งมีความเป็นไปได้ว่าจะเป็นสาเหตุสำคัญ ของโรค โดยมีรายงานถึงความผิดปกติของระดับดีเอ็นเอเมทิลเลชั่นในเซลล์เม็ดเลือดขาวชนิด ลิวโคไซค์. พีบีเอ็มซี. ทีเซลล์และซีดีโฟทีเซลล์ใน ระบบภูมิคุ้มกันของผู้ป่วยเอสเอลอี ซึ่งพบว่ามีระดับดีเอ็นเอเมทิลเลชั่นต่ำในผู้ป่วยเมื่อเปรียบเทียบกับผู้มีสุขภาพดี นอกจากนี้ยังพบว่า ้ความสัมพันธ์ของการเกิดโรคเอสเอลอีนั้น ไม่ได้พบเฉพาะในเซลล์เม็ดเลือดขาวชนิดลิวโคไซค์, พีบีเอ็มซี, ทีเซลล์และซีดีโฟทีเซลล์ เท่านั้นแต่ยัง รวมถึงเซลล์เม็ดเลือดขาวชนิดนิวโตรฟิลด้วย เนื่องจากมีรายงานหลายฉบับรายงานถึงความผิดปกติของกระบวนการตายที่เกิดขึ้นในเซลล์นิว ้ โตรฟิลของผู้ป่วยเอสเอลอีเมื่อเปรียบเทียบกับผู้มีสุขภาพดี กลไกการเกิดดีเอ็นเอเมทิลเลชั่นเกี่ยวข้องกับการเติมหมู่เมทิลที่เบสไซโตชีนที่อยู่ติด ้กับเบสกวานี้นนั้น ไม่ได้เกิดขึ้นเฉพาะในส่วนโปรโมเตอร์ของยืนเท่านั้นแต่ยังสามารถเกิดขึ้นในส่วนเบสซ้ำด้วย ซึ่งมีรายงานการศึกษาเกี่ยวกับ ระดับเมทิลเลชั่นของลำดับเบสซ้ำในเซลล์เม็ดเลือดขาวชนิดโมโนนิวเคลียสและลิมโฟไซค์ แต่อย่างไรก็ตามยังไม่มีการศึกษาในเซลล์เม็ดเลือด ขาวชนิดนิวโตรฟิล การศึกษานี้มีวัตถุประสงค์เพื่อศึกษาระดับและรูปแบบของดีเอ็นเอเมทิลเลชั่นในส่วนเบสซ้ำชนิดไลด์1, อลู, เอชอีอาร์วี-อี และเอชอีอาร์วี-เค ในเซลล์เม็ดเลือดขาวชนิดนิวโตรฟิลของกลุ่มผู้ป่วยเอสเอลอีเปรียบเทียบกับกลุ่มผู้มีสุขภาพดีและศึกษาความสัมพันธ์ ระหว่างระดับและรูปแบบของดีเอ็นเอเมทิลเลชั่นกับอายุและข้อมูลทางคลินิกของผู้ป่วย จากการทดลองพบความแตกต่างอย่างมีนัยสำคัญทาง ้สถิติของระดับและรูปแบบ (mC) และ (mCmC) ของดีเอ็นเอเมทิลเลชั่นในส่วนเบสซ้ำชนิด ไลด์1 ในเซลล์เม็ดเลือดขาวชนิดนิวโตรฟิลของผู้ป่วย เอสเอลอีต่ำกว่าผู้มีสุขภาพดี (p-value<0.0001, p-value<0.0001 ตามลำดับ) และพบความแตกต่างอย่างมีนัยสำคัญทางสถิติของระดับและ รูปแบบ ((uCuC)) และ (mCuC) ของดีเอ็นเอเมทิลเลชั่นในส่วนเบสซ้ำชนิด ไลด์1 ในเซลล์เม็ดเลือดขาวชนิดนิวโตรฟิลของผู้ป่วยเอสเอลอีสูง กว่าผู้มีสุขภาพดี (P-value=0.0028, p-value<0.0001 ตามลำดับ) แต่อย่างไรก็ตามไม่พบความสัมพันธ์อย่างมีนัยสำคัญทางสถิติระหว่าง ระดับและรปแบบของดีเอ็นเอเมทิลเลชั่นในส่วนเบสซ้ำชนิด อลู, เอซอีอาร์วี-อี และเอซอีอาร์วี-เค ยิ่งไปกว่านั้นเราได้ทำการค้นหาความสัมพันธ์ ระหว่าง ไลด์1 ที่แทรกอยู่ในยืน กับข้อมูลการแสดงออกของยืนในเซลล์เม็ดเลือดขาวชนิดนิวโตรฟิลเปรียบเทียบกับกลุ่มควบคุม พบว่ายืนที่มี ไลด์1 แทรกอยู่ ส่งเสริมให้มีการแสดงออกของยีนในเซลล์เม็ดเลือดขาวชนิดนิวโตรฟิลเพิ่มสูงขึ้น (p-value= 7.74X10<sup>-3</sup>; OR = 1.28) นอกจากนี้ เมื่อแยกวิเคราะห์ในแต่ละกลุ่มของไลด์1 พบว่ายีนที่มี ไลด์1 ชนิดแอนไทเซนแทรกอยู่ ส่งเสริมให้มีการแสดงออกของยีนในเซลล์เม็ดเลือดขาว ชนิดนิวโตรฟิลเพิ่มสูงขึ้นด้วย (p-value= 6.22X10<sup>-3</sup>; OR = 1.38) จากหลักฐานที่กล่าวมาแสดงให้เห็นว่าการเคลื่อนไหวของระดับและรูปแบบ ของดีเอ็นเอเมททิลเลชั่นในส่วนเบสซ่ำชนิด ไลน์-1 ในเซลล์เม็ดเลือดขาวชนิดนิวโตรฟิลของผู้ป่วยเอสเอลอีอาจส่งผลกระทบต่อการเกิดโรคเอ ้สเอลอี แต่อย่างไรก็ตามการศึกษานี้เป็นหลักฐานแรกที่อาจนำไปสู่องค์ความรู้ใหม่ซึ่งเกี่ยวข้องกับสาเหตุของการเกิดโรคเอสเอลอี

สาขาวิชา	วิทยาศาสตร์การแพทย์	ลายมือชื่อนิสิต
ปีการศึกษา	.2555	_ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาวิทยานิพนธ์หลัก

# # 5274867630: MAJOR MEDICAL SCIENCE

KEYWORDS: DNA METHYLATION/ SYSTEMIC LUPUS ERYTHEMATOSUS / NEUTROPHIL/LINE-1/ALU/HERV-E/HERV-K

PARAMATE PROMNARATE : THE STUDY OF DNA METHYLATION STATUS OF THE INTERSPERSED REPETITIVE SEQUENCES TYPE LINE-1, ALU, HERV-E AND HERV-K IN NEUTROPHIL OF SYSTEMIC LUPUS ERYTHEMATOSUS PATIENTS AND HEALTHY CONTROLS. ADVISOR: ASSOC. PROF. NATTIYA HIRANKARN, M.D., Ph.D., 117 pp.

The exact etiology of Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE) is still obscure. Various report believe that the epigenetic, it important role that may cause SLE. One of the major mechanisms of epigenetic be DNA methylation, it is possible an important cause of the disease. Several papers report that abnormalities of DNA methylation level in some important immune cells and SLE-relate genes of SLE patients. It was found that leukocytes, PBMC, T-cell and CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cell DNA of SLE patients are DNA hypomethylation comparing to healthy donor. Not only are PBMC and lymphocyte is those involve with pathogenesis of SLE but have also been neutrophil. Several papers reported that abnormalities in cell-death processes of SLE neutrophils. DNA methylation that involved the addition of a methyl group to cytosine within CpG pairs. That does not only occur in genes but also occur on the IRSs in human genome. Previous studies report that methylation levels of IRSs in PBMC and Lymphocyte of SLE's patients but limited in Neutrophils. In this study we evaluated methylation level and patterns of LINE-1, ALU, HERV-E and HERV-K in SLE's patient compared to healthy controls and examined the association between methylation level and patterns according to age and some clinical data of SLE patients. We observed that some methylation level and pattern of LINE-1 was significant difference, precise methylation (mC), hypermethylated (mCmC) in neutrophils from SLE patients were significantly lower than healthy controls. (p-value<0.0001, p-value<0.0001 respectively) and found that hypomethylation (uCuC) and %mCuC pattern in neutrophils from SLE patients were significantly higher than healthy controls. (P-value=0.0028, p-value<0.0001 respectively). However, the methylation level and pattern of Alu, HERV-E and HERV-K in neutrophils from SLE patients include active and inactive group compared to healthy control were not significantly different. Moreover, we investigate the correlation between intragenic LINE-1 and differential expressions in SLE neutrophils expression array. We explored higher prevalence of upregulated of genes containing LINE-1s (p-value= 7.74X10<sup>-3</sup>; OR = 1.28). Moreover, genes with antisense LINE-1s were higher prevalence of up-regulated genes containing LINE-1s (p-value= 6.22X10-3; OR = 1.38). We also provided an evidence to propose the dynamics of DNA methylation levels and pattern of LINE-1 in Neutrophils might affect to pathogenesis of the SLE. However, this study is the first evidence that could lead to new knowledge related to the etiology of SLE.

Field of Study:	Medical science	Student's Signature
Academic Year:	2012	Advisor's Signature
		<b>C</b>

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The author wished to express deepest gratitude to Advisor, Associate Professor Nattiya Hirankarn, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Microbiology, Faculty of Medicine, Chulalongkorn University, for them kind excellent supervision and invaluable advice, indispensable help, constructive criticism, guidance throughout the period of the study. They expertise in clinical and statistics improved my research skills and prepared me for future challenges. I would like to thank the committee of Medical Science Program for giving me permission to commence this thesis in the first instance, to do the necessary research work.

I would like to special thanks to Jeerawat Nakkuntod, Ph.D. and Pattadon Sukkapan, Ph.D.Chulalongkorn University and Surasak Yooyongsatit, Ph.D. Srinakharinwirot University for their valuable advice and supporting. This thesis would not be accomplished without support of everyone who encouraged and supported me to complete this dissertation Moreover, I would like to thank Faculty of Medicine, Chulalongkorn University and Center of Excellence in Molecular Genetics of Cancer and Human Diseases, Department of Anatomy, Faculty of Medicine, Chulalongkorn University as well as Lupus Research Unit members for their kindness and courtesy for laboratory facilities. Without them, this work would not be accomplished.

Finally, with all my heart, I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my parents and my wife as well as my son for their love, kindness, cheerfulness, moral support, understanding and encouragement throughout this study.

# CONTENTS

ABSTRACT (THAI)	iv
ABSTRACT (ENGLISH)	۷
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	vi
CONTENTS	vii
LIST OF TABLES	Х
LIST OF FIGURES	xii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	xiv
CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION	1
Research question	6
Hypothesis	6
Objectives	6
Conceptual framework	7
Research framework	8
CHAPTER II LITERATURE REVIEW	9
Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE)	9
Epidemiology of SLE	12
Etiology of SLE	12
The genetic factors predisposition to SLE	13
The environmental factors predisposition to SLE	14
Abnormalities of immune system in SLE	14
Normal neutrophil biology	15
Abnormalities in SLE neutrophil function	17
Epigenetics	21
DNA methylation	22
Histone modifications	24
Micro-RNA	24

DNA methylation and SLE	24
Interspersed repetitive sequences (IRS)	26
The impact of interspersed repetitive sequences on human genome	29
Role of DNA methylation on Interspersed repetitive sequences and human	
diseases	32
CHAPTER III MATERIALS AND METHODS	34
Subjects	34
Patient criteria	34
Healthy control criteria	35
Sample sizes	36
Cell isolation	36
Cell lines	37
DNA extraction	37
DNA preparation and combined bisulfite restriction analysis (COBRA)	38
COBRA-LINE-1 and COBRA-ALU	38
LINE-1 and ALU methylation analysis	40
COBRA-HERV-E and COBRA-HERV-K	41
HERV-E and HERV-K methylation analysis	43
CU-DREAM X analysis	43
Functional analysis	44
Statistical analyses	44
CHAPTER IV RESULTS	47
Combined Bisulfite -Restriction analysis (COBRA) for interspersed	
repetitive elements, COBRA-LINE-1, COBRA-ALU, COBRA-HERV-E and	
COBRA-HERV-K	47
Differences in DNA methylation levels of LINE-1 between Neutrophils cells	
from SLE patients versus healthy donors	50

Differences in DNA methylation levels of ALU between Neutrophils cells	
from SLE patients versus healthy donors	53
Differences in DNA methylation levels of HERV-E and HERV-K between	
Neutrophils cells from SLE patients versus healthy donors	56
Association of LINE-1 methylation with age and some clinical data in SLE	59
Association of ALU methylation with age and some clinical data in SLE	66
Association of HERV-E and HERV-K methylation with age and some	
clinical data in SLE	73
The correlation between intragenic LINE-1 and differential expressions in	
SLE neutrophils expression array	78
Bioinformatics analysis the high prevalence of up or down-regulated genes	
containing LINE-1s involved in the biological processes	82
CHAPTER V DISSUSSION AND CONCLUSION	88
REFERENCES	94
APPENDICES	109
BIOGRAPHY	

## LIST OF TABLES

TABLE		PAGE
1	The American College of Rheumatology's criteria for classification of	
	SLE, revised in 1982 and 1997	10
2	Systemic lupus erythematosus disease activity index 2000 (SLEDAI-	
	2K) data collection form	11
3	Associations between epigenetic modifications and human diseases	
		26
4	Patient demographics and medications	45
5	Changes in DNA methylation of LINE-1	52
6	Changes in DNA methylation of ALU	55
7	Changes in DNA methylation of HERV-E	57
8	Changes in DNA methylation of HERV-K	58
9	Correlation between each pattern of LINE-1 methylation levels with age	
	and some clinical data	60
10	Alteration of LINE-1 methylation in disease activity	65
11	Correlation between each pattern of Alu methylation levels with age	
	and some clinical data	67
12	Alteration of Alu methylation in disease activity	72
13	Correlation between HERV-E methylation levelswith age and some	
	clinical data	74
14	Correlation between HERV-K methylation levelswith age and some	
	clinical data	75
15	Alteration of HERV-E methylation in disease activity	76
16	Alteration of HERV-K methylation in disease activity	77
17	2x2 table of Chi-square test to evaluate intragenic LINE-1 can control	
	the expression of genes in neutrophils of SLE patients	78

## TABLE

18	The expression status of genes containing LINE-1s compared	
	between SLE neutrophils vs. normal neutrophils	81
19	Functional annotation chart identified for up or down-regulation genes	
	with L1s insertion group in the neutrophils of SLE patient by DAVID	
	Functional Classification Tool	83
20	Association between the dynamic of DNA methylation levels of	
	interspersed repetitive sequences (IRSs) and human diseases or	
	condition	93
1A	Up and down-regulated genes with L1s insertion group in the	
	neutrophils of SLE patient	114

## LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE		PAGE
1	Predisposing factors in SLE	13
2	Neutrophil diapedesis	16
3	Summary of neutrophil granules and their contents	17
4	Role of neutrophils or LDG in the pathogenesis of SLE and associated	
	organ damage	19
5	Epigenetic modification	21
6	Mechanism of DNA methylation	23
7	The human genome content of transposable elements and structural	
	of LINE-1 ( <i>L1</i> ) and <i>Alu</i>	28
8	Structure of the retroviral genome	28
9	The impact of interspersed repetitive sequences on human gene	
	expression	29
10	COBRA technique for LINE-1, Alu, HERV-E and HERV-K	47
11	Each patternof LINE-1 methylation levels in SLE neutrophils	
	compared to normal neutrophils	51
12	Each patternof ALU methylation levels in SLE neutrophils compared	
	to normal neutrophils	54
13	DNA Methylation levels in SLE neutrophil compared to normal control	
	of HERV-E	57
14	DNA Methylation levels in SLE neutrophil compared to normal control	
	of HERV-K	58
15	Correlation between each pattern of LINE-1 methylation levels with	
	age in neutrophils of SLE patients	61
16	Correlation between each pattern of LINE-1 methylation levels with	
	SLEDAI score in neutrophils of SLE patients	62

## FIGURE

17	Correlation between each pattern of LINE-1 methylation levels with	
	%neutrophils in SLE patients	63
18	Each patternof LINE-1 methylation levels in different SLE disease	
	activity	64
19	Correlation between each pattern of Alu methylation levels with age in	
	neutrophils of SLE patients	68
20	Correlation between each pattern of Alu methylation levels with	
	SLEDAI score in neutrophils of SLE patients	69
21	Correlation between each pattern of Alu methylation levels with	
	%neutrophils in SLE patients	70
22	Each pattern of Alu methylation levels in different SLE disease	
	activity	71
23	Correlation between HERV-E methylation levels with age (A), SLEDAI	
	score (B) and %neutrophils (C) in neutrophils of SLE patients	74
24	Correlation between HERV-K methylation levels with age (A), SLEDAI	
	score (B) and %neutrophils (C) in neutrophils of SLE patients	75
25	HERV-E methylation levels in different SLE disease activity	76
26	HERV-K methylation levels in different SLE disease activity	77
27	Calcium signaling pathway	86
28	Complement and coagulation cascades	87

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

COBRA	Combined Bisulfite Restriction Analysis
CU-DREAM	Connection Up- or Down-Regulation
	Expression Analysis of Microarray
CU-DREAM X	Connection Up- or Down-Regulation
	Expression Analysis of Microarray
	Extension program
DNMTs	DNA Methyltransferases
GEO	Gene Expression Omnibus
HERVs	Human Endogenous Retroviruses
IRSs	Interspersed Repetitive Sequences
LINE-1	Long Interspersed Nuclear Element type 1
SINE-1	Short Interspersed Nuclear Element type 1
LTRs	Long Terminal Repeats
PBMCs	Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells
PMN	Polymorphoneuclear Cells
RA	Rheumatoid arthritis
Вр	Base pair
IFN	Interferon
IL	Interleukin
MHC	Major Histocompatibility Complex
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction
SLE	Systemic Lupus Erythematosus
SLEDAI-2K	Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Disease
	Activity 2000

## CHAPTER I

## INTRODUCTION

Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) is a complex autoimmune disease. SLE is associated with impairments in immune system, which is a response of the immune system against its own tissues in almost every organs such as skin, nervous system, heart, kidney, blood components, cells and cell components. The landmark of SLE is the production of autoantibody against self-antigen, especially against nuclear antigen e.g. intact chromatin, single-strand DNA, double-strand DNA, nucleosomes collectively called antinuclear autoantibodies (ANAs). These autoantibodies combined with a self-antigen into immune complex which accumulate to tissues and vessels with high turbulence flow causing tissue, and organ damage via inflammatory response. This process results in various clinical manifestations such as glomerulonephritis, arthritis, serositis, vasculitis and neurological disorders (1). Currently, the exact etiology of SLE is still unclear. We believe that the etiology of SLE is caused by several factors, composite genetic factors and environmental factors and on abnormalities of immune system. These factors contribute to the pathogenesis of SLE (2). In addition, several previous studies demonstrated the importance of epigenetic in human pathologies such as inflammatory response and malignancies. Especially, dysregulation of DNA methylation processes. This evidence proposed as a potentially increasing in frequency of autoimmune and cancer (Table 3) (3). The epigenetic refers to the study of heritable changes in gene expression that do not involve sequence change in DNA. There are believes that epigenetic is a link between genetic and environmental factors and affects the immune responses abnormalities such as immune regulation, apoptosis of immune cells and clearance of immune complex or apoptotic cells (3, 4). (Figure 1) These abnormalities which occurred may predispose to the development of autoimmune diseases.

In SLE, there are many reports that DNA hypomethylation was found in leukocytes (5), PBMCs (6, 7), T-cell (30) and CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cell DNA (8-11) of SLE patients comparing to healthy control. For example, there are report that hypomethylation levels of the CpG islands in the IL-4 and IL-6 promoters were found in T cell of SLE patients (13) as well as the hypomethylation levels of IL10 and IL13 promoter in CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cell of SLE patient (14). The hypomethylation of the HTR1A promoter was reported in PBMC of SLE patient (15). In addition, DNA hypomethylation is important to initiate apoptotic DNA to induce SLE-like autoimmune disease in non-susceptible mice (12). These results suggested that DNA methylation is another major etiology of the SLE. One of heritable epigenetic modifications is DNA methylation that involves the addition of a methyl group to cytosines within CpG (cytosine/guanine) pairs. Methylation does not only occur only in the gene promoter but also occur at the interspersed repetitive sequences (IRSs) in human genome (16). In human genome, the IRSs was found at approximately 45% of whole genome, (17) which were found to be CpG-rich sequences (18, 19). Furthermore there was report that the changes in the methylation status of different IRSs loci may lead to the differences in cellular phenotypes depending on their location under normal condition (20, 21). The IRSs can be divided into two major groups according to the motion that they can move from site to site between the genome e.g. DNA transposons found about 2.8% it is generally excised themselves as DNA from one genome site and inserted into new position by a "cut and paste" mechanism. While, retrotransposons found about 42.2% it is transcripted into RNA and reversed by using reverse transcriptase and inserted at new location by a "copy and paste" mechanism (22, 95). They can be classified as retrotransposons according to the structure based on the presence or absence of long terminal repeats (LTRs) into two groups as a non-LTR retroelements and LTR retroelements (22). The majority and high copy of non-LTR retroelements include long interspersed nuclear element (LINES) such as an LINE-1 found about 16.9%. Following is short interspersed nuclear element (SINEs) such as an Alu found about 10.6% (Figure 7a) (17). Meanwhile, the majority and high copy of LTR

retroelements in human genome is Human endogenous retroviruses (HERVs) found about 8.3 % (Figure 7a) such as HERV-E and HERV-K (17). In the past the IRSs have often been referred to as parasitic or junk DNA sequence (23). However, current studies about the functional role of many IRSs in human genome, suggested that they can affect the human genome from generating insertion mutations and genomic instability by serving as new promoter, new enhancer, new exon and polyadenylation signal to neighboring genes. As a result, it can change gene expression and contribute to genetic innovation (24-26). The methylation levels of various IRSs element have been studied, such as LINE-1, ALU and some types of HERV sequences respectively (23). The hypomethylation of LINE-1, ALU, HERV-E and HERV-K have been found in various condition such as cancers (27) embryogenesis (28, 29), aging (30, 31), congenital malformation (32), exposure to certain environments (33), nutrition (34), and autoimmune diseases (35). Interestingly, in aging cells have hypomethylation of Alu element and HERV-K, but not LINE-1. Therefore, loss of genome-wide methylation in IRSs is type-specific in some conditions (36). Moreover, LINE-1 hypomethylation was found in many other conditions (25). The regulated gene expressions in cis by LINE-1 were reported in at least two studies. Both mechanisms are dependent on the transcriptional activity of the LINE-1 promoter. The first mechanism is that LINE-1mediated control of gene expression is through the production of unique RNA sequences. Second mechanism is that intragenic LINE-1 RNAs repress host gene expression via the nuclear RNA-induced silencing complex (23). The consequences of LINE-1 and other IRSs hypomethylation that regulate the adjacent cellular gene and may encourage to disease. Several studies have reported an association between IRSs and autoimmune diseases. For example, LINE-1 hypomethylation found in CD4<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes, CD8<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes, and B lymphocytes of SLE patient and found in lymphocyte of synovial fibroblast of rheumatoid arthritis (37, 38). Besides the association with hypomethylation, the HERV-E and HERV-K gag gene were increased expression in PBMC of SLE patients and rheumatoid arthritis patients respectively (39-41). In addition, when treating PBMC with 5-azacytidine causing

alteration methylation levels, the expression of HERV-E gag transcript and HERV-K gag protein were seen, respectively (39, 42). These results may suggest that HERV-E and HERV-K up-regulation in lymphocyte of SLE patient's effect from methylation losing. Moreover, they are report that Alu element insertion in an intron of Fas gene resulted in Fas gene mutations in autoimmune lympho proliferative syndrome (ALPS) which caused splicing errors or missense changes (43). Not only PBMC and lymphocyte that were involve with pathogenesis of SLE but neutrophil is another important cell. Neutrophil is the most abundant and constitute ~40-60% of the white blood cell population and is critical to the pathogenesis of SLE (44). Several studies have reported an association between irregular neutrophil function and SLE. For example, there are the increases in the percentage of apoptotic neutrophil from patients with SLE (45-48). SLE neutrophil apoptosis correlated positively with lupus disease activity and may contribute to autoantigen excess including dsDNA (45). The apoptotic neutrophils and macrophages is increased in SLE patients and the ability of macrophages to phagocytosis apoptotic bodies is decreased from an impaired clearance mechanism (46). SLE neutrophil secondary necrosis levels significantly higher than neutrophil necrosis levels from control (46). Furthermore, in 2004 paper has new evidence in SLE neutrophils. Increased neutrophil turnover correlates with interferon levels, suggesting a link between neutrophil activation and chronic plasmacytoid dendritic cell (pDCs) activation, leads to increased IFN- $\mathbf{Q}$  production in SLE (49). Moreover, in 2011 a key of puzzling issues aim to NETosis in SLE. The researchers found that extracellular DNA might frequently be present owing to the formation of NETosis or NET which, NETs are abundant released by neutrophils in patients with SLE (50-52). Possibility is that enhanced abnormalities SLE neutrophil through cell-death process, apoptosis and NETosis including synthesizes increased amounts of type I IFNs. Dysfunction of neutrophil and increased apoptosis and NETosis in SLE might be important in the promotion of autoimmunity and the development of organ damage in SLE. Another interesting evidences, from the analysis of the genes expression in leukocytes of SLE patient by oligonucleotide microarray showed

the overexpression of granulopoiesis-related and interferon (IFN)-induced genes by comparison between SLE and healthy patients. Therefore, Interferon and granulopoiesis signatures in leukocytes of SLE, reveals that immature granulocytes may be involved in SLE pathogenesis (53). Moreover, using methylation array to investigate the existence of genespecific DNA methylation changes associated with the development of the disease in white blood cells (WBCs) of human monozygotic (MZ) twins discordant for SLE, shows that significantly difference in a global decrease in the 5-methylcytosine content of 49 genes between SLE and healthy MZ twins (5). As mention earlier, a large fraction of WBCs (leukocytes) and granulocyte is neutrophils. However, there are few studies about the relationship between DNA methylation and neutrophils. One reported a correlation between DNA methylation and gene expression levels with polycythemia rubra vera-1 (PRV-1) gene in neutrophils and found that overexpression of the PRV-1 gene in patients with polycythemia vera (PV) and essential thrombocythemia (ET) is associated with a decrease in methylation of this gene. Therefore, DNA methylation might control PRV-1 expression in neutrophils under physiologic and pathologic conditions (54). So far these are no information about DNA methylation level of LINE-1, ALU, HERV-E and HERV-K in neutrophils of SLE.

In this study, we determined and compared DNA methylation level and different methylation patterns of LINE-1, Alu, HERV-E and HERV-K in neutrophils from normal control, SLE patients, inactive SLE patients and active SLE patients by COBRA method. The LINE-1 methylation patterns were classified to hypermethylated (mCmC), hypomethylated (uCuC) and 2 partially methylated loci (mCuC and uCmC). Then, we analyzed the association between LINE-1, Alu, HERV-E and HERV-K methylation patterns according to age and some clinical data of SLE patients. Moreover, using bioinformatics analyzed the correlation between intragenic LINE-1and differential expressions in SLE neutrophils expression array (GSE27427) by the CU-DREAM X program. Our results may reveal role for neutrophils in

SLE pathogenesis and identify a novel link between the methylation level and some important IRSs in this disease.

### Research question

How is the methylation level and patterns of LINE-1, Alu, HERV-E and HERV-K in neutrophil of SLE patients and is it correlated with disease activity?

#### Hypothesis

DNA hypomethylation at LINE-1, ALU, HERV-E and HERV-K sequences occurs in neutrophil of SLE patients is different from normal control and correlate with SLE disease activity.

### The objectives of this thesis study were:

- To determine and compare the methylation level and patterns at LINE-1, ALU, HERV-E and HERV-K sequences in neutrophil from normal control, SLE patients, inactive SLE patients and active SLE patients.
- 2. To analyze the association between LINE-1, Alu, HERV-E and HERV-K methylation level and patterns according to age and some clinical data of SLE patients.
- To investigate the correlation between intragenic LINE-1and differential expressions in SLE neutrophils expression array (GSE27427).

Factors associated with altered DNA methylation

-Ultraviolet light

- Drug (i.e. Hydralazine)
- Diet or biosynthesis (i.e. folic acid)
- Unknown factors



## Research framework



## CHAPTER II

## LITERATURE REVIEW

#### 1. Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE)

Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) is a complex autoimmune disease. SLE is associated with impairments in immune system, which lead to the loss of tolerance of selfantigens. SLE patient displays response of the immune system against its own tissues in multiorgan involvement such as skin, nervous system, heart, kidneys, and blood components. The landmark of SLE is the production of autoantibody against self-antigen, especially against nuclear antigen i.e. intact chromatin, single-strand DNA, double-strand DNA, nucleosomes collectively called antinuclear autoantibodies (ANAs). These autoantibodies combined with a self-antigen into immune complex. These immune complexes deposite in tissue and vessels with high turbulence flow causing tissue and organ damage via inflammatory response, result in several clinical manifestations such as glomerulonephritis, arthritis, serositis, vasculitis and neurological disorders (1). The disease severity and the progression of the disease were different between the patients. The American college of Rheumatology (ACR) has established diagnostic criteria for SLE (Table 1) (55, 56). The patients with at least 4 of the American College of Rheumatology (ACR) criteria were classification to be SLE. Moreover, the activity of the disease was classified by the systemic lupus erythematosus disease activity index 2000 (SLEDAI-2K) (Table 2) (57). The patients with SLEDAI-2K score more than 6 points or more are classified as patients with active disease whereas the patients with SLEDAI-2K score less than or equal to 6 points are classified as patients with inactive disease (58).

Table 1. The American College of Rheumatology's criteria for classification of SLE, revised in 1982 and 1997 (55, 56).

Criterion	Definition
Malar rash	Fixed erythema, flat or raised, over the malar eminences, tending to spare the nasolabial folds
Discoid rash	Erythematosus raised patches with adherent keratotic scaling and follicular plugging; atrophic
	scarring may occur in older lesions
Photosensitivity	Skin rash as a result of unusual reaction to sunlight, by patient history or physician observation
Oral ulcers	Oral or nasopharyngeal ulceration, usually painless, observed by a physician
Arthritis	Nonerosive arthritis involving 2 or more peripheral joints, characterized by tenderness, swelling or
	effusion
Serositis	a) Pleuritis (convincing history of pleuritic pain or rub heard by a physician or evidence of pleural
	effusion)
	OR
	b) Pericarditis (documented by ECG or rub or evidence of pericardial effusion)
Renal disorder	a) Persistent proteinurea > 0.5 g/day, or greater than 3+ if quantification not performed
	OR
	b) Cellular casts: red cell, hemoglobin, granular, tubular or mixed
Neurologic disorder	a) Seizures (in the absence of offending drugs or known metabolic derangements)
	OR
	b) Psychosis (in the absence of offending drugs or known metabolic derangements)
Haematologic disorder	a) Haemolytic anaemia with reticulocytosis
	OR
	b) Leukopenia (<4000/mm <sup>3</sup> on 2 or more occasions)
	OR
	c) Lymphopenia (<1500/mm <sup>3</sup> on 2 or more occasions)
	OR
	d) Thrombocytopenia (<100,000/mm <sup>3</sup> in the absence of offending drugs)
Immunologic disorder	a) Antibody to native DNA in abnormal titre
	OR
	b) Antibody to Sm nuclear antigen
	OR
	c) Antiphospholipid antibodies - based on 1) abnormal serum level of IgG or IgM anticardiolipin
	antibodies, 2) positive test result for lupus anticoagulant using a standard method, or 3) a false-
	positive serologic test for syphilis for at least 6 months confirmed by Treponema pallidum
	immobilization or fluorescent treponemal antibody absorption test
Anti-nuclear antibodies	Abnormal titre of antinuclear antibody by immunofluorescence or equivalent assay, in the absence of
	drugs known to be associated with 'drug-induced lupus' syndrome

Study No. :		Patient Na	Visit Date:
	(Enter weig	ht to SLEDAI Score col	umn if descriptor is present at the time of the visit or in the preceding 10 days.)
Weight	SLEDAI	Descriptor	Definition
	SCORE		
8		Seizure	Recent onset. Exclude metabolic, infectious or drug cause
			Altered ability to function in normal activity due to severe disturbance in the perception
8		Psychosis	of reality. Include hallucinations, incoherence, marked loose associations, thinking,
			bizarre, disorganized, or catatonic behavior. Excluded uremiaimpoverished thought
			content, marked illogical and drug causes.
			Altered mental function with impaired orientation, memory or other intelligent function,
			with rapid onset fluctuating clinical features. Include clouding of consciousness with
		Organic Brain	reduced capacity to focus, and inability to sustain attention to environment, plus at least
8		Syndrome	two of the following: perceptual disturbance, incoherent speech, insomnia or daytime
			perceptual disturbance, incoherent speech, insomnia or daytime drowsiness, or
			increased or decreased psychomotor activity. Exclude metabolic, infectious or drug
			causes.
		Visual disturbance	Retinal changes of SLE. Include cytoid bodies, retinal hemorrhages, serious exodate or
8			hemorrhages in the choroids, or optic neuritis. Exclude hypertension, infection, or drug
			causes.
8		Cranial Nerve	New onset of sensory or motor neuropathy involving cranial nerves.
		Disorder	
8		Lupus Headache	Severe persistent headache: may be migrainous, but must be nonresponsive to
			narcotic analgesia.
8		CVA	New onset of cerebrovascular accident(s). Exclude arteriosclerosis
8		Vasculitis	Ulceration, gangrene, tender finger nodules, periungual, infarction, splinter
			hemorrhages, or biopsy or angiogram proof of vasculitis
4		Arthritis	More than 2 joints with pain and signs of inflammation (i.e. tenderness, swelling, or
			effusion).
4		Myositis	Proximal muscle aching/weakness, associated with elevated creatine
			phosphokinase/adolase or electromyogram changes or a biopsy showing myositis.
4		Urinary Casts	Heme-granular or red blood cell casts
4		Hematuria	>5 red blood cells/high power field. Exclude stone, infection or other cause.
4		Proteinuria	>0.5 gm/24 hours. New onset or recent increase of more than 0.5 gm/24 hours.
4		Pyuria	>5 white blood cells/high power field. Exclude infection.
2		Rash	New onset or recurrence of inflammatory type rash.
2		Alopecia	New onset or recurrence of abnormal, patchy or diffuse loss of hair.
2		Mucosal Ulcers	New onset or recurrence of oral or nasal ulcerations
2		Pleurisy	Pleuritic chest pain with pleural rub or effusion, or pleural thickening.

## Table 2. SLEDAI– 2K data collection form (57).

2	Pericarditis	Pericardial pain with at least 1 of the following: rub, effusion, or electrocardiogram
		confirmation.
2	Low Complement	Decrease in CH50, C3, or C4 below the lower limit of normal for testing laboratory.
2	Increased DNA	>25% binding by Farr assay or above normal range for testing laboratory.
	binding	
1	Fever	>38 °C. Exclude infectious cause
1	Thrombocytopenia	<100,000 platelets/mm3
1	Leukopenia	<3,000 White blood cell/mm3. Exclude drug causes.

### 2. Epidemiology of SLE

SLE can be found worldwide in almost all ages. The incidence rates range from approximately 1 to 10 per 100,000 person-years. The prevalence rate range of SLE is from 20 to 70 per 100,000 depending on racial and geographic background (59). Gender is also a risk factor for SLE. The prevalence rates for men to women are approximately 1:10 (59). There is a possible role of hormones particularly the estrogens (59). The nationality of African-American, Asian and Hispanic have more prevalence of SLE and severely affected than Caucasian (60). According to a study in Asia the Hong Kong population, the prevalence of SLE patients were found 58.8 per 100,000 persons and had SLE with renal involvement up to 50%. While, only 30-39% of the Caucasian patients have lupus nephritis (61, 62). Moreover, as high as 78% of Thai SLE had renal involvement, suggesting that Thai patients may have more severe disease than Hong Kong and the Caucasian (63).

#### 3. Etiology of SLE

The past studies found that the etiology of SLE is caused by genetic factors and environmental factors which lead to the abnormalities of immune system, particularly the loss of tolerance of self-antigens. However, the exact etiology of SLE is still obscure (2). Various evidences suggest a role of epigenetics in human pathologies such as inflammatory response and malignancies, especially, the dysregulation of DNA methylation processes. We believe that epigenetic, especially DNA methylation is a linker between genetic and environmental factors (3, 4). As show in Figure 1





#### 3.1 The genetic factors predisposition to SLE

SLE are complex autoimmune diseases with strong genetic factors. The important evidences come from the familial aggregation and twin studies. From familial aggregation studies, forty-two SLE patients had 2 or more relatives with an autoimmune disease and a  $\lambda$  sibling of 5.8 and 29.0 for SLE, when comparing with their reported high or intermediate population prevalence (64). Moreover, twin studies show the 2-5% and 24–57% disease concordance in dizygotic and monozygotic twin, respectively (65, 66). Interestingly, the gene-specific DNA methylation changes associated with the development of the SLE was found in monozygotic twins, showing significantly global decrease in the 5-methylcytosine content of 49 genes between SLE and healthy monozygotic twins (5). In addition, there are reports about a number of genetic risk factors for SLE. Those identified candidate genes including *HLA*, *FCGR*, *PTPN22*, *STAT4*, *BLK*, *BANK1*, *ITGAM*, *IRF5*, *ITPR3* and *TNXB*, which have been studies in Caucasian and Asia patients with SLE by genome wide association studies (GWAS) (54-59). These data support the role of genetics factors in SLE.

#### 3.2 The environmental factors predisposition to SLE

One more factor that is important to the pathogenesis of SLE is the environmental factors including ultraviolet light. The SLE patients around 73% have been reported to have photosensitivity symptom (67). The chemicals or other compounds including environmental pollutants or drugs such as hydralazine and procainamide can cause lupus-like disease. Most likely the mechanism is by inhibiting T cell DNA methylation (68, 69). Other environment factors are smoking and diet are behavioral factors that associated with risk of SLE if exposure to high levels (70, 71). As for the infectious agents, infected virus could lead to the loss of self-tolerance by several mechanisms, including molecular mimicry, protein changes or exposition of cryptic antigens. Moreover, DNA and RNA viruses can stimulate intracellular toll-like receptors (TLR) in plasmocytoid dendritic cells (pDCs) to produce interferon (INF- $\mathbf{Q}$ ), which stimulates the adaptive immune system and development to autoimmunity (4). For example, the Epstein-Barr Virus (EBV) effect by viral antigens cross-reactivity with self-antigens, which lead to self-reactive B cells imperishable (72-75). These data support the role of environmental factors in SLE.

#### 3.3 Abnormalities of immune system in SLE

Pathophysiology of SLE can be defined by congruence of clinical and laboratory criteria and presents variety of immune system dysregulation in both adaptive and innate immunity. The key of the pathophysiology and therapy of SLE has focused on abnormalities of adaptive immune system, T lymphocytes and B lymphocytes (2). Recently, focus has shifted and gained attention to the role of innate immune system because accumulating data support abnormalities in innate immunity, which might be involved in the regulation of cell death, presentation of putative autoantigens and synthesis of type I interferons (IFNs). These defects appear in innate immune cell such as monocytes, macrophages, dendritic cells (DCs). However the role of neutrophils in the pathogenesis of SLE had not been well characterized. Here we review normal neutrophil biology and some abnormalities of

neutrophils that discovered in SLE, and purposed mechanism of how neutrophil could promote to SLE pathogenesis (76).

### 3.3.1 Normal neutrophil biology

Neutrophils or polymorphonuclear cells (PMN) are normally found approximately  $\sim$ 40-60% of all white blood cells (leukocytes) and they are the most abundant types of leukocytes in the human body and an essential part of the innate immune system. However, they have a short lifespan and their homeostasis is maintained by the bone marrow. Neutrophils are crucial component in the first line of defense against invading pathogens. Normally resting neutrophils become primed by agents of bacterial products and cytokines or chemokines, such as TNF- $\mathbf{Q}$ , GM-CSF, IL-8 and IFN- $\gamma$ . These priming substances will activate transcription factors that trigger the receptors and cytokines expression, which increase neutrophil function or lifespan. Then activated neutrophils are migrating towards the site of infection or inflammation within minutes. They are controlled by interactions between L-selectin expressed on the surface of neutrophils allowing loose tethering to ligands expressed on the surface of vascular endothelial cells such as E- and P-selectin, and P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 (PSGL-1)] and very late antigen-4 (VLA-4). These interaction result in the conformational changes in integrin adhesion molecules on the surface of endothelial cells, which composed of intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM)-1 and -2, vascular cell-adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1) and mucosal vascular cell-adhesion molecule-1 (MADCAM-1). Then the rolling arrest is mediated by high-affinity ligand binding and strong adherence of neutrophil receptors and endothelium surface ligand. Neutrophils then transmigrate via the junctions between neighbouring endothelial cells (paracellular) into tissue, which the surface area presents expression of ligands including ICAM-2, PECAM-1 (platelet endothelial-cell adhesion molecule-1) and proteins of the junctional adhesion molecule (JAM) family. (Figure 2) Then neutrophils diapedese from peripheral blood passing through endothelium and chemotaxis to the sites of inflammation. The

chemoattractants induces neutrophils to migrate towards inflamed tissue along a chemotactic gradient such as N-formylmethionyl-leucyl-phenylalanine (fMLP) and complement component 5a (C5a). Elimination of pathogen at the infected site, complement proteins and immunoglobulins recognize and bind opsonized pathogen leading to the formation of pseudopodia and destruction within the intracellular phagosome. Neutrophils rapidly kill phagocytosed pathogens by generating reactive oxygen species (ROS) via the respiratory burst, the release of microbicidal substances from cytoplasmic granules and the formation of neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs), which contain a backbone of DNA and nuclear histones as well as many granular antimicrobial peptides. Indeed these toxic molecules can also damage host tissue. The inappropriate activation of neutrophils might be the induction of autoimmunity and the development of organ damage in patients with SLE (44, 76). Intracellular granules of neutrophil are mobilized upon priming of the cell, enabling the sequential release of secretory vesicle, followed by gelatinase granules, specific granules and finally azurophilic granules into the extracellular environment (44). (Figure 3)







Figure 3: Summary of neutrophil granules and their contents (44).

#### 3.3.2 Abnormalities in SLE neutrophil function

Abnormalities in SLE neutrophil phenotype and function have been discovered. Crucially, several recent papers reported that abnormalities in cell-death process of SLE neutrophils. There were increased levels of apoptotic neutrophils from patients with SLE, compared with neutrophils from healthy donors. In addition the aberrant clearance of apoptotic bodies are positively correlated with lupus disease activity (45-47, 48) as well as SLE neutrophil secondary necrosis levels significantly higher than neutrophil necrosis levels from control (46). Usually neutrophils are the most abundant types and short lifespan compared with other blood cell types so neutrophils represent an abundant source of antigenic material and can contribute to excess production of SLE-related autoantibodies, including those against double-stranded DNA (dsDNA) and nucleosomes (77). These sources of self-antigens will be taken up by antigen-presenting cells and present peptides to T cells. Then stimulating T cells and B cells to produce autoantibodies to self-antigen. The consequences of increased loss of neutrophils or low number of circulating neutrophils are neutropenia which is a feature of the disease in a numerous proportion of patients with SLE (78). The mechanisms that drive the progression of neutropenia in patients with SLE including neutrophil-reactive autoantibody, neutralizing autoantibodies against growth factors such as G-CSF, bone marrow suppression and increased neutrophil death by apoptosis, necrosis or by NETosis (79). One possibility is that neutropenia and enhanced neutrophil induced tissue damage in patients with SLE occurred by infiltration of neutrophils to organs are actively undergoing NETosis or apoptosis. These mechanisms lead to neutropenia but also to organ damage and immune dysregulation. However, the exact roles of abnormalities in neutrophils that promoted SLE pathogenesis and organ damage remains obscure.

In 2004 paper reported the new evidence in SLE neutrophils. Increased neutrophil turnover correlates with interferon levels, suggesting a link between neutrophil activation and chronic plasmacytoid dendritic cell (pDCs) activation, leading to increased IFN-**C** production in SLE (49). Moreover, self-DNA in immune complexes and LL-37 autoantibodies as well as human neutrophil peptide (HNP) was detected in sera from patients with SLE which was contrast to control sera. These immunogenic complex help promoting the formation of NETs by protected DNA degradation from nucleases and can trigger Toll-like receptor (TLR) 7 and TLR9 activation on pDCs as well as interaction with Fc**Y** receptor IIa (Fc**Y**RIIa) on pDCs. In addition, LL-37–DNA complexes stimulate pDCs to synthesize IFN-**C** and might also trigger B-cell stimulation, suggesting that NETs might promote activated B-cell and development of antibodies against antimicrobial peptides (50). These evidences support the concept of SLE neutrophil-dependent pathway dysregulation and driving chronic pDC activation as well as autoimmunity in SLE.

In 2011, the researchers found that extracellular DNA might frequently be present owing to the formation of NETosis or NET which, produced from neutrophils upon response

to microbial infections. Moreover, NETs are abundantly released by neutrophils in patients with SLE (50-52). The term NETosis is cell death that occurred upon encountering various stimuli including extracellular pathogen, proinflammatory cytokines, and activated platelets or endothelial cells. NETosis associated with reactive oxygen species generation, as well as by translocation of neutrophil granule components to the cytoplasm and nucleus, encouraging to chromatin decondensation. The chromatin fibers were tightly packed extrusion and affect to nuclear membrane breakdown and elimination neutrophil extracellular trap (NET). NETs consists of DNA backbone and histones as well as neutrophil granules that contain many granules of antimicrobial peptides and some cytoplasmic proteins, which initiate the trap and promote the clearance of extracellular pathogen (76). The investigation of NETs production by neutrophils in the skin of patients with SLE was similar to the findings in mouse model SLE disease. Skin injury leads to the leukocyte infiltration and stimulating pDCs to synthesize IFN- $\mathbf{\alpha}$  and production of NETs by neutrophils. In summary, the abnormalities in neutrophil phenotype and function in patients with SLE are the enhanced neutrophil death through apoptosis and NETosis, which can increase the production of type I IFNs. Therefore, neutrophil dysfunction and increased apoptosis and NETosis in SLE are important in the promotion of autoimmunity and the development of organ damage in SLE (76), (80). (Figure 4)

**Figure 4**: Role of neutrophils or LDG in the pathogenesis of SLE and associated organ damage (76).

NETosis occurred upon exposure to micro-organisms, damaged cell products, immune complexes and other as yet uninvestigated stimuli. NETs consists of externalize bactericidal immunostimulatory peptides such as LL-37, autoantigens including dsDNA. The formation of LL-37-DNA complexes will stimulate pDCs to synthesize IFN-**Q**. Moreover, upon stimulation with G-CSF lead to neutrophils and LDGs synthesis of type I IFNs. Consequences to increased levels of type I IFNs stimulation by LL-37-DNA complexes and

G-CSF which can promote monocyte differentiate to mDCs as well as B-cell and T-cell dysregulated and synthesis of autoantibodies and detrimental effect on bone marrow EPCs. In addition, LDGs also promote endothelial cell death through a NET-mediated effect (76).



Abbreviations: EPCs, endothelial progenitor cells; FcYRIIC, low affinity immunoglobulin-Y Fc region receptor II-C, G-CSF, granulocyte-colony stimulating factor; G-CSF-R, G-CSF receptor; IFNR, interferon receptor; LDGs, low-density granulocytes; mDC, myeloid dendritic cell; NET, neutrophil extracellular trap; pDC, plasmacytoid dendritic cell; TLR, Toll-like receptor (76).

### 4. Epigenetics

Epigenetic refers to the heritable changes in gene expression that do not involve sequence change in DNA. This mechanism helps initiation and maintenance of cells differentiation. It was normally found early during cellular development and differentiation (81, 82). The scope of epigenetic mechanisms consists of three main stations exist in a normally regulated genome, 1) DNA methylation, 2) histone modification in chromatin and 3) micro-RNA associated with silencing. The gene expression of cells that must be expressed in specific cells at precise times depends on nucleosomes formation because DNA stands are wrapped around histone octamers proteins. These nucleosomes are organized into chromatin. (Figure 5A) The modifications of chromatin structure can affect gene expression. During gene expression (switched on), the transcription factors (TFs) are attached to binding site on DNA promoters when chromatin is open (active). In contrast, the way to inactivate gene (switched off) is the inability of TFs to bind to DNA, when chromatin is condensed (silent). (Figure 5B) The dynamic of chromatin states between active and silent chromatin are controlled by reversible epigenetic patterns of DNA methylation and histone modifications (3, 83).

#### Figure 5: Epigenetic modification (3).

DNA strands are wrapped around histone octamers to nucleosomes formation. Polynucleosomes are organized into chromatin. (A) The dynamic chromatin state is controls by DNA methylation involve addition of methyl group to cytosine within CpG and histone modification via acetylation, methylation and phosphorylation. (B) The dynamic reversible chromatin organization that alter gene expression by activation or silencing chromatin.



### 4.1 DNA methylation

DNA methylation involved the addition of a methyl group to the 5' carbon position of cytosines within CpG (cytosine/guanosine) pairs. CpGs are enriched in short stretches of genome called CpG island (CGIs), which are targets for transcription factor proteins that bind to unmethylated CpGs and initiate gene transcription. The majority of CGIs are located on 5' end regions of promoters and first exon (3). The criteria to determine CGIs is a contiguous C+G content more than 55% of DNA, at least 500 bp in length and an observed
CpG over expected CpG ratio in excess of 0.65 (84). DNA methylation process involved DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs) which, served by transfering the methyl groups from Sadenosyl methionine to cytosine residues in DNA. Distinct DNMTs include DNMT1, DNMT2, DNMT3a, DNMT3b, and DNMT3L are encoded by at least three different genes called DNMT1, DNMT3A and DNMT3L. Functional DNMT1 have been known as maintenance DNA methylation. This enzyme preferentially methylates hemimethylated DNA to create the methylation pattern for newly replicated daughter strands during mitosis, based on that of the parent strand (85). In addition, functional DNMT3A and DNMT3L have been known as addition of methyl group to the unmethylated CpG (De novo methylation), have an effect to formation of new hemimethylation and fully methylated CpG (86). (Figure 6) DNA promoters of active genes and tissue-specific genes are generally hypomethylated. In contrast, DNA promoters of inactive genes are silenced by methylation. This dynamic of transcriptional suppression is mediated by cytosine methylation that directly interfere TFs binding DNA. Moreover, cytosine methylation can be indirectly interfered by recruiting methyl binding domains and co-repressors proteins to methylated CpG to prevent the binding of TFs to DNA (87).



#### 4.2 Histone modifications

The modifications of histone include acetylation, methylation, ubiquitination, phosphorylation, sumoylation, deimination/citrullination, ADP-ribosylation and proline isomerization. Each mechanism of histone modification serves a specific purpose. The acetylation and deacetylation of histones participate in the control of transcription. Histone acetylation involving the addition of an acetyl group (Ac) by histone acetyl transferase to the N-terminal tail of histones is enough to decondense the chromatin. Therefore transcription factor can bind to DNA, and influent the transcription. In contrast, histone deacetylase involves with removing acetyl groups from histones leading to chromatin condensation and gene silencing (83).

#### 4.3 Micro-RNA

Micro-RNA (miRNAs) consists of RNA length 21-23 bps and function as posttranslational regulators of gene expression. The operation of miRNAs that involves with the role of RNA silencing has been associated with epigenetic controls. The researcher found that one-third of the human transcriptome is regulated by 1,000 miRNAs. Some of them interact with transcripts of genes that alter DNA methylation and histone modification. In contrast, miRNA expression can be affected by DNA methylation and histone accommodation (83).

#### 5. DNA methylation and SLE

Various evidences suggest a key important role for epigenetics, in human pathologies such as inflammatory response and malignancies. Particularly the dysregulation of DNA methylation processes was found to be increasing in frequency in various autoimmune and cancer patients (Table 3) (49). Several papers report the abnormalities of DNA methylation level in some important immune cells of SLE patients. It was found that leukocytes (5), PBMCs (6, 7), T-cell (35) and CD4+ T-cell DNA (8-11) of SLE patients were

DNA hypomethylation comparing to healthy donor. This hypomethylation was associated with decreasing of DNMT1 mRNA levels (11). In addition, DNA hypomethylation T cells are important to initiate apoptotic DNA to induce SLE-like autoimmune disease in nonsusceptible mice (12). The evidence supporting the role of demethylation comes from studies with demethylating agents such as procainamide, hydralazine, or 5-azacytidine. These agents are cytosine analog that contains a nitrogen atom at the 5' position of the pyrimidine ring and are incorporated into newly synthesized DNA. Treatment with these agents causes global hypomethylation. This mechanism have been proved in vitro by treating T cell with demethylating agents, it can induces major histocompatibility complexspecific T cell autoreactivity (88-92). Moreover, the adoptive transfers of 5-azacytidine or procainamide-treated T cells into syngeneic recipient mice caused a lupus-like disease (93, 88). Therefore, hypomethylation of CD4+ T cell may contribute the development of SLE. In addition, overexpression and demethylation of CD40 ligand (TNFSF5) was found only in CD4+ T cell of female SLE. This evidence suggested that demethylation in X inactivation chromosome may be an important factor result in highly incidence of SLE in female than male (94). Recent study reported the abnormalities of DNA methylation level in some important immune cells and SLE-relate genes of SLE patients. The hypomethylation levels of the CpG islands in the IL-4 and IL-6 promoters were found in T cell of SLE patients (13). The hypomethylation levels of IL10 and IL13 promoter were found in CD4+ T-cell of SLE patients (14). And hypomethylation of the HTR1A promoter was found in PBMC of SLE patient (15).

Disease/condition	Gene	Biological process	Disease/condition	Gene	Biological process
Cancer			Neurologic		
Bladder	Multiple genes	Hypermethylation <sup>20</sup>	Schizophrenia	RELN	Hypermethylation <sup>46,47</sup>
Brain (glioma)	RASSF1A	Hypermethylation <sup>28,29</sup>	Bipolar disorder	11p?	Unknown <sup>48</sup>
Brain (glioblast)	MGMT	Hypermethylation <sup>30</sup>	Memory formation	Multiple genes	Hypo-, hypermethylation®
Breast	BRCA1	Hypermethylation <sup>31</sup>	Lupus	Retroviral DNA	Hypomethylation <sup>50</sup>
Breast	Multiple genes	Hypermethylation <sup>32,33</sup>	Cardiovascular		
Cervix	p16	Hypermethylation <sup>34</sup>	Atherosclerosis	Multiple genes	Hypo-, hypermethylation19,51
Colon	Multiple genes	Hypermethylation <sup>20</sup>	Homocysteinemia	Multiple genes	Hypomethylation <sup>52</sup>
Colorectal	L1 repeats	Hypomethylation35	Vascular endothelium	eNOS	Hypomethylation <sup>53</sup>
Esophagus	CDH1	Hypermethylation <sup>20</sup>	Imprinting and pedia	atric syndromes	
Head/neck	p16, MGMT	Hypermethylation <sup>20</sup>	PWS or AS	15q11-q13	Imprinting <sup>54</sup>
Kidney	TIMP-3	Hypermethylation <sup>20</sup>	BWS	11p15	Imprinting <sup>55</sup>
Leukemia	p15	Hypermethylation <sup>20</sup>	SRS	Chromosome 7	Imprinting <sup>56</sup>
Liver	Multiple genes	Hypermethylation <sup>36</sup>	UPD14	14q23-q32	Imprinting <sup>57</sup>
Lung	p16, p73	Hypermethylation <sup>20</sup>	PHP, AHO, MAS	20q13.2	Imprinting <sup>58</sup>
Lymphoma	DAPK	Hypermethylation <sup>20</sup>	Rett syndrome	MECP2	Mutation <sup>59</sup>
Myeloma	DAPK	Hypermethylation <sup>37</sup>	ICF syndrome	DNMT3B	Mutation <sup>60</sup>
Ovary	BRCA1	Hypermethylation <sup>38</sup>	ATRX	ATRX	Chromatin structure <sup>61</sup>
Ovary	Sat2	Hypomethylation <sup>39</sup>	FraX	Triplet repeat	Silencing <sup>62</sup>
Pancreas	APC	Hypermethylation <sup>20</sup>	FSHD	3.3 kb repeat	Chromatin structure63
Pancreas	Multiple genes	Hypomethylation <sup>40</sup>	Reproductive		
Prostate	BRCA2	Hypermethylation <sup>20,41</sup>	Ovarian teratoma	No paternal genome	Imprinting <sup>64</sup>
Rhabdomyosarcoma	PAX3	Hypermethylation <sup>42</sup>	СНМ	No maternal genome	Imprinting <sup>65</sup>
Stomach	Cyclin D2	Hypomethylation43	BICHM	Maternal genome	Imprinting <sup>65</sup>
Thymus	POMC	Hypomethylation44	Aging	Chromatin	Hypo-, hypermethylation <sup>66</sup>
Urothelial	Satellite DNA	Hypomethylation45			
Uterus	hMLH1	Hypermethylation <sup>20</sup>			

 Table 3: Associations between epigenetic modifications and human diseases (3).

# 6. Interspersed repetitive sequences (IRSs)

In human genome, interspersed repetitive sequences (IRSs) was found approximately 45% of whole genome, which can be divided into two major groups include DNA transposons and retrotransposons. Each group was divided according to the motion that they are able to move from site to site between the genome. DNA transposons were found about 2.8%. It is generally excised themselves as DNA from one genome site and inserted into new position by a "cut and paste" mechanism. While, retrotransposons were found about 42.2%. It is transcribed into RNA and reversed by using reverse transcriptase and inserted at new location by a "copy and paste" mechanism (22, 95). Moreover, we can classify retrotransposons according to the structure based on the presence or absence of long terminal repeats (LTRs) into two groups as a non-LTR retroelements and LTR retroelements (22). The highest copies of non-LTR retroelements is the long interspersed nuclear element (LINES) such as an LINE-1 (L1) found about 16.9% (Figure 7a). There are >500,000 L1 copies composed of full-length L1 element which is approximately 6 kb long and L1 structural consists of a 5<sup>'</sup> UTR containing an internal RNA polymerase II (RNAPII) promoter, two open reading frames (oRF1 and oRF2) and a 3<sup>'</sup> uTR containing a polyadenylation signal ending with an oligo (dA)-rich tail of variable length. (Figure 7b) The second most common non-LTR retroelement is the short interspersed nuclear element (SINEs) called Alu found about 10.6% (Figure 7a). There are >1 million Alu copies composed of full-length ALU element which is approximately 300 bp long and Alu structural consists of two related monomers separated by an A-rich linker region. The left monomer contains A and B boxes (blue boxes), which are transcriptional promoters for RNA polymerase III. The element ends with an oligo (dA)-rich tail (AAA) that can be up to 100 bp long (Figure 7b) (87). In addition, Alu requires activities of enzymatic assistance from LINE-1 or the host for their mobility. Therefore, LINE-1 and Alu are the abundant non-LTR retrotransposons in human genome (96-99). Meanwhile, another high copy number of LTR retroelements in human genome is Human endogenous retroviruses (HERVs) which was found about 8.3 % such as HERV-E and HERV-K (17). A typical size of HERVs is about 6-7 kb and HERVs structural consists of four internal universal genes, including gag, pro, pol and env, which are flanked by two LTRs as exogenous retrovirus (Figure 8). Moreover, HERVs contain numerous deleterious mutations such as smaller deletions, frame shifts or stop codons and hypermethylation of promoters. These mechanisms occur in order to maintain the inactivation the expression of functional proteins from proviral genes (100).

Most HERVs were remained in the human genome as solitary LTRs due to recombination of the two LTRs (101).

Figure 7: The human genome content of transposable elements and structural of LINE-1 (*L1*) and *Alu* (87).



Figure 8: Structure of the retroviral genome (100).

LTR: long terminal repeat, U3: unique 3' sequence, R: repeat sequence; U5: unique 5' sequence; PBS: primer binding site; gag: group-specific antigen; pro: protease; pol: RNA-dependent DNA polymerase, env: envelope.



#### 7. The impact of interspersed repetitive sequences on human genome

In the past, the IRSs have often been referred to as parasitic or junk DNA sequence (23). However, current studies reported the functional role of many IRSs studies in human genome, suggested that some important IRSs might alter gene expression and contributing to genetic innovation in human genome (24-26). Interspersed repetitive sequences (IRSs) including LINE-1, Alu, HERVs can integrate into the human genome and affect gene transcription of human genomes via various mechanisms such as exonization or alternative splicing, transcription elongation defects, modulation of gene expression, alternative promoter, RNA editing and epigenetic control (26, 102-106).

Figure 9: The impact of interspersed repetitive sequences on human gene expression (26).

#### (A) Exonization and alternative splicing

This mechanism occurs 40-60% in human genes and associates with alternative splicing (dashed lines). Retrotransposon sequences (red box) such as LINE-1, Alu and HERVs can be inserted into an intron, and then sometimes they can be integrate into a gene act as exons (made up here of two exons, grey boxes) in a process termed exonization. A single gene produces more than one type of mRNA and contributes to human proteome variation include promoting a new exon and splice sites.



#### (B) Transcription elongation defects

Retrotransposon sequences presence in the intron of a gene (Grey boxes which represent intron), such as intronic L1 elements (Red box which represent exons) can disturb

transcriptional elongation of the host gene by promoting polyadenylation signals. Moreover, HERV-LTR sequences can provide polyadenylation signals that induce transcription elongation defects. The result of transcription elongation defects cause to induce the end of gene transcription including attenuation or premature polyadenylation.



#### (C) Modulation of gene expression

Some Retrotransposons such as Alu elements carry transcription factor-binding sites (red box) that might modulate gene expression. A transcription factor (green oval) carried by a retrotransposon can upregulate or downregulate (curved arrow) the expression (horizontal arrow) of nearby genes (grey boxes).



## (D) Alternative promoter

Retrotransposons such as LINE-1, Alu and HERVs element carries sequences similar to functional promoters (red box). This promoter has a function to initiate sense or

antisense transcription (Horizontal arrows) through nearby genes (grey boxes) by controlling gene expression that can initiate downstream and upstream transcription.



# (E) RNA editing

RNA editing is a process by which RNA sequences provide post transcriptional modification by conversion of adenosine (A) to inosine (I) in dsRNA such as two Alu elements appear in the opposite orientation in gene transcripts (red boxes) and lead to A to I editing. This mechanism calls RNA editing, which can result in suppression of expression through nuclear retention of edited RNA transcripts.



Nuclear retention

#### (F) Epigenetic controls

Epigenetic regulation by retrotransposon activity was mediated through highly methylated at CpG sites of retrotransposon such as LINE-1, Alu and HERVs. (red box) DNA methylation process is important to defend the cell. Because retrotransposons can be methylated and frequently found near genes, which may initiate and spread the heterochromatin formed at retrotransposons (blue ovals) therefore altering the expression (horizontal arrow) of neighbouring genes (grey boxes).



# 8. Role of DNA methylation on Interspersed repetitive sequences and human diseases.

One of the heritable epigenetic modifications is DNA methylation that does not only occur in genes but also occur on the interspersed repetitive sequences (IRSs) in human genome (16). Some IRSs element such as LINE-1, Alu and HERVs have been found to be hypomethylated in various condition such as cancers (27) embryogenesis (28, 29), aging (30, 31), congenital malformation (32), exposure to certain environments (33), nutrition (34), and autoimmune diseases (35). Since 1983, a relationship between DNA methylation and cancer was establised. It was shown that global hypomethylation of malignancies was cause by the loss of DNA methylation from repetitive regions in the genome. Demethylation of repetitive transposon promoters might also result in irregular gene regulation in cancer by interfere gene transcription or produce antisense transcripts. LINE-1 from oral rinses of oral squamous cell carcinoma patients was observed to be global hypomethylation (107). Moreover, the researcher reported that distinction of DNA hypermethylation and hypomethylation are independent processes and play different role in colorectal tumor progression (108). LINE-1 and Alu hypomethylation were found in well-differentiated neuroendocrine tumors (pancreatic endocrine tumors and carcinoid tumors). These tumors sample were found less methylated of LINE-1 and Alu than normal tissue (109). In addition, DNA repetitive elements, LINE-1 and Alu were significantly more hypomethylated in chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) progression (110). Interestingly, in aging cells have hypomethylation of Alu element and HERV-K, but not LINE-1. Therefore, loss of genomewide methylation in IRSs is type-specific in some conditions (36). However, LINE-1

hypomethylation was found more often in various conditions, most likely because LINE-1 methylation was regulated by the 5' UTR methylation level (25). Recent year, the regulated gene expressions in cis by LINE-1 at least by two mechanisms were reported. Both mechanisms are dependent on the transcriptional activity of the LINE-1 promoter. The first mechanism is that LINE-1-mediated control of gene expression through the production of unique RNA sequences. Second mechanism is that intragenic LINE-1 RNAs repress host gene expression via the nuclear RNA-induced silencing complex (23). The consequences of LINE-1 and other IRSs hypomethylation that regulate the adjacent cellular gene may contribute to disease pathogenesis. Several papers have reported association between IRSs and autoimmune diseases. LINE-1 hypomethylation was found in CD4<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes, CD8<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes, and B lymphocytes of SLE patient and found in lymphocyte of synovial fibroblast of rheumatoid arthritis (37, 38). Besides, the association between LINE-1 and autoimmune diseases, the association between HERVs and autoimmune diseases was reported. The HERV-E and HERV-K gag gene expression were increased in PBMC of SLE patients and rheumatoid arthritis patients respectively (38-40). In addition, when treating PBMC with 5-azacytidine causing alteration methylation levels, increase expression of HERV-E gag transcript and HERV-K gag protein was observed, respectively (39, 42). These evidences suggest that HERV-E and HERV-K up-regulation in lymphocyte of SLE patient's is an effect from methylation dynamic losing.

# CHAPTER III

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

### Subjects

Forty SLE subjects were recruited in the study.Twentyfemale patients with SLE were recruited from KingChulalongkorn Memorial Hospital, which were diagnosed as SLE by theAmerican College of Rheumatology (ACR) criteria. All patients with SLE were classifiedaccording to the severity of the disease by the Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Disease Activity Index 2000 (SLEDAI-2K) (Table 3)(56).Inactive disease was defined as SLEDAI-2K score  $\leq 6$  (10 Inactive SLE patients) whereas active disease had to have SLEDAI-2K score > 6 (10 active SLE patients)(57). The demographic data of patients with SLE was shown in Table 4.Twenty healthy female volunteers with no history of any autoimmune disease and cancer served as normal controls. Informed consent was obtained from each subject before entering the study. The trial was approved by the Institutional Review Board of the Faculty of Medicine, Chulalongkorn University, Bangkok, Thailand.

#### Patient criteria

#### Inclusion criteria:

- All patients included in the study were diagnosed as SLE with at least 4 of the American College of Rheumatology (ACR) criteria.
- All patients included female only.
- All patients included Thai or Thai Chinese.
- All patients included all severity.
- All patients included all age.

• All patients included in the study were consent by signing the Informed consent.

# Exclusion criteria:

• All patients with other autoimmune diseases and malignancies were excluded from the study.

# Healthy control criteria

# Inclusion criteria:

- All healthy volunteersincluded in the study were no history of autoimmune disease and cancer.
- All healthy volunteers included in the study were no history of exposure to Lupusinduced drugs.
- All healthy volunteers included in the study were no family history of autoimmune disease.
- All healthy volunteers included female only.
- All healthy volunteers included Thai or Thai Chinese.
- All healthy volunteers included all age.
- All healthy volunteers included in the study were consent by signing the Informed consent.

# Exclusion criteria:

- All healthy volunteerswith autoimmune disease and malignancies were excluded from the study.
- All healthy volunteerswithhistory of exposure to Lupus-induced drugs such as were excluded from the study.
- All healthy volunteerswithfamily history of autoimmune diseasewere excluded from the study.

#### Sample sizes

We calculated a sample sizes (two independent groups) by this formula for the study.

N/group =  $2(Z_{a/2}+Z_b)^2 \sigma^2 / (\overline{X}_1-\overline{X}_2)^2$   $\sigma^2$  = Pooled variance =  $\{(n_1-1)S_1^2 + (n_2-1)S_2^2\} / (n_1+n_2-2)$   $\alpha$  = 0.05  $\beta$  = 0.10  $Z_{\alpha/2}$  =  $Z_{0.05/2}$  = 1.96 (two-tail)  $Z_{\beta}$  =  $Z_{0.10}$  = 1.28

# Calculated a sample sizes from preliminary test

SLE neutrophils  $n_1 = 11$ Normal neutrophils  $n_2 = 5$   $\overline{X}_1 = 35.38$   $\overline{X}_2 = 31.38$   $\mathbf{\sigma}^2 = \{(11-1) (1.721)^2 + (5-1) (2.563)^2\} / (11+5-2) = 3.99$ N/group =2(1.96+1.28)<sup>2</sup>(3.99)/ (35.38-31.38)<sup>2</sup> = 83.71/16.00 = 5.23

= ~6 samples/group

The calculation of a sample sizes in this study required6samples/group but to increases the reliability of the study. Therefore, we increase the sample size to20 samples /group, which can be divided into twentypatients with SLE and20healthy controls.

# Cell isolation

The polymorphonuclear granulocytes (PMN)or Neutrophil were isolated into two steps from heparinized venous blood by gradient centrifugation. First step were to isolate peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) by Ficoll-Hypaque (Amersham-Pharmacia Biotech, Uppsala, Sweden) density gradient centrifugation. In brief, the collectedheparinized blood was diluted in RPMI by ratio 1:1. The diluted blood was layered on Ficoll-Hypaque. The mononuclear cell fractionobtained from gradient centrifugationwas collected and washed twice with RPMI. PBMCs were counted using a hematocytometer. Then PBMCs were stored at -80 °C.Second step were isolate PMNfrom blood remaining in the first step by polymorphprep(AXIS-SHIELD-PoC.com, Oslo, Norway) density gradient centrifugation. In brief, the blood remaining in the first step was diluted in RPMI by ratio 1:1. The diluted blood was carefully layered over the polymorphprep. The PMN fraction obtained from gradient centrifugation was collected and washed once with RPMI and then using hypotonic lysisbuffer shatter red blood cells. PMN were counted using a hemacytometer. The purity of PMN was confirm by cytospin method and evaluated by flow cytometry. PMN were stored at -80 °C until procedure.

#### Cell lines

Six cell lines of carcinomas and lymphomas were used forinter-assay variation normalizationincluding cervical (HeLa, and CaSki), hepatocellular (HepG2) and leukemia (K-562, Daudi and Jurkat).We used DNA template of Hela, Daudi and Jurkat as a control forinterassay-variation in each experiments of Line-1, Alu and HERV-E. We used DNA template of K562, HepG2 and CaSkias a control forinter-assay variation in each experiments of each cell line were standardized. Therefore, all experiments were adjusted with the same control methylation levels.All cell lines were cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium or RPMI1640 (Gibco BRL, Life Technologies, Pairly, UK), supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (Sigma, St Louis, MO, USA) and incubated at 37°C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub>.

# **DNA** extraction

DNA was isolated from PMN collected with heparinized blood tube, using a salting out method (111). In brief, in pellet tube were added with 200 µl nuclei lysis buffer (NLB) and

50  $\mu$ I 10% SDS. Using pipette tip to mix the pellet and vortexing until tiny flakeswere obtained. Then, 10  $\mu$ I of proteinase K (10 mg/mI in H<sub>2</sub>O stored frozen) was added. This solution was incubation at 65 °C for 2 hours. After that, 175  $\mu$ I of 5.3 M NaCI was added for precipitation proteins was obtained and then centrifuged at 10,000-12,000 rpm for 15 minutes in micro centrifuge. After centrifugation, precipitated DNA was suspended by add 1 ml cold absolute ethanol. Invert 6-10 times to precipitate DNA. Then, centrifuged at 10,000-12,000 rpm for 10 minutes and discarded supernatant from the pellet. This pellet was suspended in 1 ml of cold 70% ethanol. Then centrifugation 1-2 minutes at 10,000-12,000 rpm and the supernatant was discarded to obtain the pellet. After that, the pellet was dried at 37 °C with the cap open to evaporate the ethanol. This pellet was discolved in 200  $\mu$ I of sterile distilled water, followed by incubation at 65 °C for 15 minutes and using gentle vortexing to resuspend. If clumps of undissolved DNA are present, it was incubated at 65 °C until completely resuspended.

# DNA preparation and combined bisulfite restriction analysis (COBRA)

Bisulfite conversion of DNA was performed using the EZ DNA methylation Kit<sup>TM</sup> (Zymo Research, Orange, CA, USA), according to the manufacturer protocol. In brief, 20 µl of 500 ng of DNA was dissolved in 130 µl of the reagent mixture of bisulfite solution and then was performed in thermal cycler under the following conditions: 98 °C for 10 min, 64 °C for 2.5 hours and 4 °C storage up to 20 hours. Then, Zymo-Spin<sup>TM</sup>IC Column was used to isolate the bisulfite-treated DNA. The DNA was eluted with 10 µl of M-Elution Buffer. The bisulfite-treated DNA samples were stored at -20 °C until procedure.

# Combined Bisulfite -Restriction analysis (COBRA), COBRA-LINE-1 and COBRA-Alu

The technique for detection of methylation in LINE-1 and Alu in the study is COBRA-LINE-1 and COBRA-Alu, which has been validated previously with pyrosequencing to be an accurate and reliable technique (27, 36). This techniquedesigned for detection

ofmethylation of thousands of CpG loci using one set of conserved primers in each IRS. For COBRA-LINE-1 and COBRA-Alu, bisulfited DNA were amplified using primers sequence as follows respectively:LINE-1 (GenBank: M80343) forward 5'- ccgtaaggggttagg gag tttt -3' and LINE-1 reward5'- (ag)taaaa ccc tcc (ag)aaccaaatataaa -3'. Alu forward 5'- gg(t/c) g(c/t)g gtggtt ta(c/t) gtttgtaa -3' and Alu reward 5'- cac cat attaaccaa act aat ccc ga -3'. The Alu sequence primers were related to the nucleotides of the AluSx subfamily sequence (36). The PCR product of COBRA-LINE-1 was performed under the cycle conditions includingpre-denature at 95 °C for 15 min and thendenaturingat95 °C for1 min, and annealing at 50 °C for 1 min, andextension at 72 °C for 1 min for 35 cycles and final extension at 72 °C for 7 min. The PCR product of COBRA-Aluwas performed under the cycle conditions includepre-denature at 95 °C for 15 minand then denature at 95 °C for 45 sec, and annealing at 63°C for 45 sec, and extension at 72 °C for 45 sec for 45 cycles and final extension at 72 °C for 7 min. After amplification, PCR products of LINE-1 (160bp in length) were digested with the restriction enzyme 2 U Taql(Fermentas International Inc., Burlington, Canada) and 2 U Tasl(Fermentas International Inc., Burlington, Canada). The PCR products of Alu (133bp in length) were digested with the restriction enzyme 2 U Tagl(Fermentas International Inc., Burlington, Canada). Eachreactionwill be incubated overnight at 65 °C and then DNA fragments will be separated in8% polyacrylamide gels. After that, the gel was stained using the SYBR green nucleic-acidstain(Invitrogen). The intensity of DNA fragments was measured with Phosphoimager using ImageQuant software (Molecular Dynamics, GE Healthcare, Slough, UK)COBRA LINE-1 amplicons were 160 bp and then after digestion, the LINE-1 methylated bands were 80 bp and LINE-1 unmethylatedbands were 98 and 62 bp. COBRA-Aluamplicons were 133 bp and then after digestion, the Alu methylated bands were 58, 43 and 32 bp and Aluunmethylated bands were 133 bp.Forinter-assay variation normalizationbetween each experiment, we used DNA templates from HeLa, Jurkat and Daudicell line as a control for COBRA-LINE-1 and COBRA-Alu. The methylation levels of each cell linewere standardized. Therefore, all experiments were adjusted with the same control methylation levels.

#### LINE-1 and Alumethylation analysis

COBRA, LINE-1 and Aluloci were categorized into four groups based on the status of methylation at 2 CpGdinucleotides in the 5' and 3' of LINE-1 and Alusequence. Thesefour groups consisted of: (26) twounmethylatedCpGs (uCuC) at LINE-1 and Alu loci; (112)two methylatedCpGs (mCmC) at LINE-1 and Aluloci; (113)5'-methylated and 3'unmethylatedCpGs (mCuC) at LINE-1 and Aluloci; and (114)5'-unmethylated and 3'methylated CpGs (uCmC) LINE-1 and Alu loci. We calculate the LINE-1 and Alu methylation level and percentage of LINE-1 and Aluloci from each group using thepercentage of intensity of COBRA-digested LINE-1 and Aluproducts. Phosphorimager and theImageQuant Software (Molecular Dynamics, GE Healthcare, Slough, UK) were used toquantitate the intensities of the COBRA-LINE-1 and Alu bands. DNA fragments from enzymaticdigestion for COBRA LINE-1 and Aluwere separated into 5 fragments and 6 fragments respectively including 160, 98, 80, 62, 18 bp and 133, 90, 75, 58, 43, 32bprespectively. Which, each bands of LINE-1 were represented different methylation states. ThemCuCrepresented the methylation state of the 160 bp fragments. The uCuCrepresented the methylation state of the 98 bp fragment. The mCmC and uCmCmixturerepresented the methylation states of the 80 bp fragments. The uCuC and uCmCmixture represented the methylation states of the 62 bp fragments. At last, uCmCrepresented the methylation states of the 18bp fragments.In case of Alu, each bands represented different methylation states. TheuCuCrepresented the methylation state of the 133 bp fragments. The mCuCrepresented the methylation state of the 90 bp fragments. The uCmCrepresented the methylation state of the 75 bp fragments. The mCmC and uCmCmixturerepresented the methylation states of the 58bp fragments. The mCmC and mCuCmixturerepresented the methylation states of the 43bp fragments.At last, mCmC represented the methylation state of the 32 bp fragments. The number

ofCpGdinucleotides was calculated from the band intensity and dividing the intensity of each band by the number of double-stranded bp of DNA sequence. LINE-1 as following: A = intensity of 160 bp fragment divided by 160; B = intensity of 98 bp fragmentdivided by 94; C = intensity of 80 bp fragment divided by 79; and D = intensity of 62 bp fragment divided by 62. After calculating the number of CpGdinucleotidesthen substitute in the formula, LINE-1 methylation levels were calculated according to the following formulas: LINE-1methylation level percentage (%mC) =  $100 \times (C+A)/(C+A+A+B+D)$ ; percentage of mCuC loci(%mCuC) = 100×(A)/(((C-D+B)/2)+A+D); percentage of uCmC loci (%uCmC) = 100×(D-B)/((CD+ B/2+A+D; percentage of uCuC loci (%uCuC) =  $100 \times B/(((C-D+B)/2)+A+D);$ and percentage of mCmC loci ( $(mCmC) = 100 \times ((C-D+B)/2)/(((C-D+B)/2)+D+A)$  (115, 116). The number of CpG dinucleotides of Aluwas calculated similar to LINE-1. Alu as follows: A = intensity of 133bp fragment divided by 133; B = intensity of 58 bp fragment divided by 58; C = intensity of 75 bp fragment divided by 75; D = intensity of 90 bp fragment divided by 90; E = intensity of 43 bp fragment divided by 43; and F = intensity of 32 bp fragment divided by 32. After calculating the number of CpGdinucleotidesthen substitute in the formula, Alu methylation levels were calculated according to the following formulas: Alu methylation level percentage (%mC) = 100×(E+B)/(2A+E+B+C+D); percentage of mCmC loci (%mCmC) =100×F/(A+C+D+F); percentage of uCmC loci  $(\%uCmC) = 100 \times C/(A+C+D+F)$ ; percentage of mCuC loci (%mCuC) = 100×D/(A+C+D+F); and percentage of uCuC loci (%uCuC) =100×A/(A+C+D+F) (115, 116).

#### Combined Bisulfite -Restriction analysis (COBRA), COBRA-HERV-E and COBRA-HERV-K

The technique for detection of methylation in HERV-E and HERV-K used in the study is COBRA-HERV-E and COBRA-HERV-K, which has been validated previously with pyrosequencing to be an accurate and reliable technique (37). This technique is similar to COBRA-LINE-1 and ALU but for doing COBRA-HERV-E and COBRA-HERV-K, bisulfitedDNA were amplified by using primers sequence as following respectively: HERV-E

(Genbank: M10976) forward 5'- TTT TGT TAG TTG ATG T(A/G)(G/T) GTA- 3' and HERV-E reverse 5'- CCC CAA AAA AAA AAT TC(C/T) TAA CC-3'.HERV-K(GenBank: M14123)forward 5'-ATA TTA AGG GAA TTT AGA GGT TGG-3', and HERV-K reverse 5'-CCC CTA CAC ACC TAT AAA TAT TTC-3'. The PCR product of COBRA-HERV-E was performed under the cycle conditions include pre-denature at 95°C for 5 min and then denature at 95°C for 1 min, and annealing at 58°C for 1 min, and extension at 72°C for 1 min for 35 cycles and final extension at 72°C for 7 min. The PCR product of COBRA-HERV-K was performed under the cycle conditions are similar to COBRA-HERV-E but, there aredifferent in the annealing step as follows: 1 min at 60°C of HERV-K primer. After amplification, PCR products of HERV-E (126bpin length) and HERV-K (156 bp in length) were digested with the 2 U of restriction enzyme Tail (Fermentas International Inc., Burlington, Canada).Eachreactionwas incubated overnight at 65°C and then DNA fragments were separated in8%non-denaturing polyacrylamide gels. After that, the gel was stained using the SYBR green nucleic-acidstain(Invitrogen). The intensity of DNA fragments was measured with Phosphoimager, using ImageQuant software (Molecular Dynamics, GE Healthcare, Slough, UK). COBRA-HERV-E amplicons were 126 bp and then after digestion, the HERV-Emethylated bands were 91, 82, 72 and 53bp fragments and HERV-Eunmethylated bands were 126 bp. COBRA-HERV-K amplicons were 156bp and then after digestion, the HERV-K methylated bands were 112 and 44 bp fragments and HERV-K unmethylated bands were 156bp.Forinter-assay variation normalizationbetween each experiment, we used DNA templates from HeLa, Daudi and Jurkatcell line as a control for COBRA-HERV-E and used DNA templates from K562, HepG2 and CaSkicell line as a control for COBRA-HERV-K.The methylation levels of each cell line were standardized. Therefore, all experiments were adjusted with the same control methylation levels (37).

#### HERV-E and HERV-K methylation analysis

We calculate the HERV-E and HERV-K methylation level and percentage of HERV-E and HERV-K loci from each amplicons yielded. The HERV-E methylated bands were 91, 82, 72 and 53bp fragments and HERV-E unmethylated bands were 126 bp. COBRA-HERV-K amplicons were 156 bp and then after digestion, the HERV-K methylated bands were 112 and 44 bp fragments and HERV-K unmethylated bands were 156 bp.The methylation level of both was calculated as a percentage as following: (%Methylation = the intensity of the digested methylated fragment and multiplied by one-hundred and divided by the sum of the undigested and digested-amplicons)(37).

#### %Methylation =Intensity of the digested methylated fragment ×100

Intensity of undigested + digested-amplicons

# CU-DREAM X analysis

Connection Up- or Down- Regulation Expression Analysis of Microarrays X (CU-DREAM X) program was used to measure the correlation between gene-containing LINE-1 and differential expression in SLE expression array for identify LINE-1 regulated genes that differently expressed in neutrophils of SLE patients (25). The program was accessible in web page(http://pioneer.netserv.chula.ac.th/~achatcha/cu-dream/) (25,117).Gene containing LINE-1 data was reported in the L1base (http://l1base.molgen.mpg.de) (118).The extracted microarray data available from Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO) dataset (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/geo),a public repository that archives and freely distributes microarray data submitted by the scientific community(119, 120). We performed the correlation between SLE neutrophils expression libraries microarray from GEO dataset GSE27427 (52) with genes containing LINE-1 data. The numbers of genes in each subset were compared with genes containing LINE-1 or not by using a chi-square test (Table 5). The significant P-value <0.01 indicated the specific correlation between gene-containing

LINE-1 and differential expression array. Theodds ratios > 1 indicated that the intragenic LINE-1 regulated genes in one study were also regulated in another study. Whereas, if odds ratios< 1 indicate that the event of interest (up or down) inhibit the mechanism (s) that altered gene expression in another experiment(117).

#### Functional analysis

We performed gene functional classification analysis by DAVID Bioinformatics'tool (http://david.abcc.ncifcrf.gov/home.jsp) (121, 122). Gene list was performed with DAVID functional annotation chart to get EASE scores, a modified Fisher Exact P-Value, for each enriched annotation terms and calculate geometric mean of EASE scores of those terms involved in this gene group. Minus log transformation is applied on the geometric mean to emphasize that the geometric mean is a relative score instead of an absolute P value. For example, enrichment scores 0.05 is equivalent to 1.3 in minus log scale. The Ranks of the biological significant of gene groups are based on overall EASE scores (enrichment score) of all enriched annotation terms. Therefore, a higher enrichment score for a group indicates that the group members are involved in more important roles (121).Furthermore, pathway analysis was performed by DAVID **Bioinformatics'tool** (http://david.abcc.ncifcrf.gov/home.jsp)

#### Statistical analyses

We applied an independent or dependent sample t-test(sig 2-tailed)for compared the methylation levels between groups. Statistical significance was P value of < 0.05. Pearson's correlation coefficient was used to examine the relationship between two continuous variables. All analyses were performed using the SPSS software for windows version 15.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA)

Patient	Group	Age	Sex	SLEDAI-2K	Medications
					Oral Prednisolone 5 mg/day,
1	Inactive	18	F	5	lmmuran 50 mg/day
					Oral Prednisolone 5 mg/day,
2	Active	20	F	10	Cellcept 2.0 g/day, Immuran 50 mg/day
3	Inactive	17	F	0	None
					Oral Prednisolone 10 mg/day,
4	Active	24	F	16	Cellcept 2.0 g/day
					Oral Prednisolone 2.5 mg/day,
5	Inactive	37	F	0	Cellcept 0.5 g/day
6	Active	39	F	12	Oral Prednisolone 20 mg/day
7	Inactive	38	F	5	Oral Prednisolone 10 mg/day
					Oral Prednisolone 5 mg/day,
8	Inactive	29	F	4	Cellcept 2.0 g/day
9	Inactive	39	F	4	Oral Prednisolone 2.5 mg/day
					Oral Prednisolone 2.5 mg/day,
10	Inactive	49	F	6	lmmuran 25 mg/day
					Oral Prednisolone 5 mg/day,
11	Active	29	F	14	Immuran 100 mg/day
12	Active	21	F	14	Oral Prednisolone 40 mg/day
					Oral Prednisolone 10 mg/day,
13	Active	28	F	10	Immuran 75 mg/day
14	Inactive	25	F	5	Oral Prednisolone 5 mg/day

Table 4. Patient clinical data and medications

					Oral Prednisolone 15 mg/day, Endoxan
15	Active	40	F	16	500 mg/day, Immuran 50 mg/day
					Oral Prednisolone 2.5 mg/day,
16	Inactive	30	F	4	Immuran 50 mg/day
17	Active	46	F	10	Oral Prednisolone 20 mg/day
18	Inactive	31	F	2	None
			_		
19	Active	19	F	10	Oral Prednisolone 15 mg/day
20	Active	29	F	16	Oral Prednisolone 2.5 mg/day
20	ACTIVE	20	·	10	oran reanisoione 2.5 mg/day

# CHAPTER IV

# RESULTS

Combined Bisulfite -Restriction analysis (COBRA) for interspersed repetitive elements, COBRA-LINE-1, COBRA-Alu, COBRA-HERV-E and COBRA-HERV-K

We performed COBRA technique for detection of methylation in LINE-1, Alu, HERV-E and HERV-K as shown in Figure 10. The PCR product size of LINE-1, Alu, HERV-E and HERV-K were 160, 133, 126 and 156 bp, respectively. The percentage of the intensity of the digested bands were measured and calculated to methylation levels.

#### Figure 10: COBRA technique for LINE-1, Alu, HERV-E and HERV-K

(A) LINE-1 (B) Alu (C) HERV-E and (D) HERV-K amplicons sizes are 160, 133, 126 and 156 bp, respectively. The products of Line-1 and Alu were digested by restriction enzymes (TaqI and TasI) while, the products of HERV-E and HERV-K were digested by restriction enzymes (TaiI). The LINE-1 amplicons were 160, 98, 80 and 62 bp. Alu amplicons were 133, 90, 75, 58 and 43 bp. HERV-E amplicons were 126, 91, 82, 73 and 53 bp. And HERV-K amplicons were 156 and 112 bp. The methylation levels were calculated as a percentage of the intensity of the digested methylation fragment divided by the sum of the undigested and digested products. Marker is Low range DNA ladder.



 200 bp
 50 bp

 100 bp
 98 bp, "C"C

 50 bp
 98 bp, "C"C

 50 bp
 62 bp, "C

# (B) COBRA-Alu methylation analysis





# (A) COBRA-Line-1 methylation analysis



# (C) COBRA-HERV-E methylation analysis

# (D) COBRA-HERV-K methylation analysis





# Differences in DNA methylation levels of LINE-1 between Neutrophil cells from SLE patients versus healthy donors

DNA methylation levels of LINE-1 in neutrophils from patients with SLE and healthy donors were compared. By COBRA-LINE-1 analysis, there were differences in LINE-1 methylation levels and pattern in neutrophils from patients with SLE (n=20) and healthy donors (n=20). We found a significant difference of methylation levels between SLE and healthy donors. The number of precise methylation loci (mC) of LINE-1 of neutrophils from patients with SLE (n=20) was significantly lower than neutrophils from healthy donors (n=20) p-value<0.0001. Percent precise methylation in SLE neutrophils compared to methylation in normal neutrophils are 47.95% and 51.38% respectively. If we look at each pattern, the number of hypermethylated loci (mCmC) of LINE-1 from patients with SLE (n=20) was significantly lower than neutrophils from healthy donors (n=20) p-value<0.0001. Percent hypermethylation in SLE neutrophils compared to methylation in normal neutrophils are 27.49% and 32.01% respectively. Moreover, the number of hypomethylated loci (uCuC) of LINE-1 from patients with SLE (n=20) was significantly higher than neutrophils from healthy donors (n=20) p-value=0.0028. Percent hypomethylation in SLE neutrophils compared to methylation in normal neutrophils are 31.58% and 29.24%, respectively. As for the percent mCuC pattern of LINE-1, the value from patients with SLE (n=20) was significantly higher than value from neutrophils from healthy donors (n=20) p-value<0.0001. Percent mCuC methylation in SLE neutrophils compared to methylation in normal neutrophils are 22.01% and 19.29% respectively. However, there was no significant difference in the percent uCmC and percent partial methylation of LINE-1 between patients with SLE (n=20) and healthy donors (n=20) p-value=0.6368, p-value=0.0520. Percent uCmC and partial methylation in SLE neutrophils compared to methylation in normal neutrophils are 18.91% and 19.44%, 40.92% and 38.74% respectively). (Figure 11) The data were shown in Table 5.

**Figure 11**: Each pattern of LINE-1 methylation levels in SLE neutrophils compared to normal neutrophils was shown in Mean ± SEM. P-value calculated by unpaired t-test two-tailed analysis.



LINE-1	Normal	SLE
methylation	Neutrophils (n=20)	Neutrophils (n=20)
m	51.38	47.95
C	±2.82	±1.41
<sup>m</sup> c <sup>m</sup> c	32.01	27.49
CC	±3.51	±2.93
mouo	19.29	22.01
	±1.7	±1.65
<sup>u</sup> c <sup>m</sup> c	19.44	18.91
	±3.6	±3.48
<sup>u</sup> o <sup>u</sup> o	29.24	31.58
	±2.88	±1.55
Dential	38.74	40.92
Partiai	±3.08	±3.74

**Table 5.** Changes in DNA methylation of LINE-1, the data was shown in Mean ± SEM.P-value calculated by unpaired t-test two-tailed analysis.

P-value <0.0001<sup>\*</sup> (mC normal neutrophils compared to SLE neutrophils)

```
P-value <0.0001<sup>*</sup> (mCmC normal neutrophils compared to SLE neutrophils)
P-value <0.0001<sup>*</sup> (mCuC normal neutrophils compared to SLE neutrophils)
P-value = 0.6368 (uCmC normal neutrophils compared to SLE neutrophils)
P-value = 0.0028<sup>*</sup> (uCuC normal neutrophils compared to SLE neutrophils)
P-value = 0.0520 (Partial methylation normal neutrophils compared to SLE neutrophils)
```

# Differences in DNA methylation levels of Alu between Neutrophil cells from SLE patients versus healthy donors

DNA methylation levels of Alu in neutrophils from patients with SLE and healthy donors were compared. By COBRA-Alu analysis, there were no significant difference in Alu methylation levels and pattern of neutrophils from patients with SLE (n=20) and healthy donors (n=20). The number of precise methylation loci (mC) of Alu of neutrophils from patients with SLE (n=20) was lower than neutrophils from healthy donors (n=20) pvalue=0.0567. Percent precise methylation in SLE neutrophils compared to methylation in normal neutrophils are 79.90% and 81.04% respectively. If we look at each pattern, the number of hypermethylated loci (mCmC) of Alu from patients with SLE (n=20) was lower than neutrophils from healthy donors (n=20) p-value=0.0744, Percent hypermethylation in SLE neutrophils compared to methylation in normal neutrophils are 45.88% and 48.70% respectively. If we look at each pattern, the number of hypomethylated loci (uCuC) of Alu from patients with SLE (n=20) was higher than neutrophils from healthy donors (n=20) pvalue=0.0567. Percent hypomethylation in SLE neutrophils compared to methylation in normal neutrophils are 20.10% and 18.96% respectively. If we look at each pattern, the percent mCuC pattern of Alu from patients with SLE (n=20) was higher than neutrophils from healthy donors (n=20) p-value=0.4209. Percent mCuC methylation in SLE neutrophils compared to methylation in normal neutrophils are 15.51% and 14.94% respectively. If we look at each pattern, the percent uCmC pattern of Alu from patients with SLE (n=20) was higher than neutrophils from healthy donors (n=20) p-value=0.2433. Percent uCmC methylation in SLE neutrophils compared to methylation in normal neutrophils are 18.50% and 17.40% respectively. In summary, there was no significant difference in Alu methylation levels and pattern but some pattern of Alu methylation levels including mC and uCuC has a trend of hypomethylation in neutrophils of patients with SLE compared to healthy donors. (Figure 12) The data were shown in Table 6.

**Figure 12**: Each pattern of Alu methylation levels in SLE neutrophils compared to normal neutrophils was shown in Mean ± SEM. P-value calculated by unpaired t-test two-tailed analysis.



Alu	Normal	SLE
methylation	Neutrophils (n=20)	Neutrophils (n=20)
me	81.04	79.90
C	±2.04	±1.58
<sup>m</sup> C <sup>m</sup> C	48.70	45.88
	±5.00	±4.68
<sup>m</sup> C <sup>u</sup> C	14.94	15.51
	±2.44	±1.96
<sup>u</sup> C <sup>m</sup> C	17.40	18.50
	±2.37	±3.42
<sup>u</sup> C <sup>u</sup> C	18.96	20.10
	±2.04	±1.58

 Table 6. Changes in DNA methylation of Alu, the data was shown in Mean ± SEM. P-value

 calculated by unpaired t-test two-tailed analysis.

P-value = 0.0567 (mC normal neutrophils compared to SLE neutrophils)
P-value = 0.0744 (mCmC normal neutrophils compared to SLE neutrophils)
P-value = 0.4209 (mCuC normal neutrophils compared to SLE neutrophils)
P-value = 0.2433 (uCmC normal neutrophils compared to SLE neutrophils)
P-value = 0.0567 (uCuC normal neutrophils compared to SLE neutrophils)

# Differences in DNA methylation levels of HERV-E and HERV-K between Neutrophil cells from SLE patients versus healthy donor

DNA methylation levels of HERV-E and HERV-K in neutrophils from patients with SLE and healthy donors were compared. By COBRA-HERV-E analysis, there were no significant difference in HERV-E and HERV-K methylation levels of neutrophils from patients with SLE (n=20) and healthy donors (n=20). We found that percent methylation of HERV-E of neutrophils from patients with SLE (n=20) was higher than percent methylation in neutrophils from healthy donors (n=20) p-value=0.4834. Percent methylation in SLE neutrophils compared to methylation in normal neutrophils are 72.71% and 72.07% respectively. (Figure 13) The data were shown in Table 7. Meanwhile, we found that percent methylation of HERV-K of neutrophils from patients with SLE (n=20) p-value = 0.6993. Percent methylation in SLE neutrophils compared to methylation in normal neutrophils are 52.81% and 53.75% respectively. (Figure 14) The data were shown in Table 8.

**Figure 13**: DNA Methylation levels in SLE neutrophil compared to normal control of HERV-E was shown in Mean ± SEM. P-value calculated by unpaired t-test two-tailed analysis.



**Table 7**. Changes in DNA methylation of HERV-E, the data was shown in Mean ± SEM.P-value calculated by unpaired t-test two-tailed analysis.

	Normal control	SLE
methylation	Neutrophils	Neutrophils
methylation	(n=20)	(n=20)
	72.07	72.71
% Methylation	±3.27	±2.36

P-value = 0.4834 (normal neutrophils compared to SLE neutrophils)

**Figure 14**: DNA Methylation levels in SLE neutrophil compared to normal control of HERV-K was shown in Mean ± SEM. P-value calculated by unpaired t-test two-tailed analysis.



Table 8. Changes in DNA methylation of HERV-K, The data was shown in Mean ± SEM.P-value calculated by unpaired t-test two-tailed analysis.

Normal control	SLE
Neutrophils	Neutrophils
(n=20)	(n=20)
53.75	52.81
±4.97	±9.56
	Normal control Neutrophils (n=20) 53.75 ±4.97

P-value = 0.6993 (normal neutrophils compared to SLE neutrophils)
#### Association of LINE-1 methylation with age and some clinical data in SLE

We analyzed the association between each pattern of LINE-1 methylation patterns and levels with some clinical data of patients with SLE including age, SLEDAI score and neutrophils count. The data were shown in Table 9. We found no significant correlation between each patterns of LINE-1 methylation levels with age (Figure 15), SLEDAI score. (Figure 16), and neutrophils count (Figure 17).

DNA methylation levels of LINE-1 in neutrophils from patient with inactive and active SLE and healthy group were compared. The SLE patients were classified according to severity of the disease, which divided into active and inactive groups based on their SLEDAI-2K score. We analyzed the association of LINE-1 methylation pattern and disease activity (10 inactive SLE vs. 10 active SLE and 20 healthy donors). Interestingly, the % mC and % mCmC pattern of LINE-1 were significant lower in both groups compared to healthy control (mC: p-value=0.0005 and p-value=0.0029, respectively) (mCmC: p-value=0.0008 and p-value=0.0034, respectively) (% methylation of mC pattern in inactive and active SLE vs. healthy control = 47.63 vs. 51.38 and 48.27 vs. 51.38, respectively) (% methylation of mCmC pattern in inactive and active SLE vs. healthy control = 27.02 vs. 32.01 and 27.96 vs. 32.01, respectively). Moreover, the % mCuC and % uCuC pattern of LINE-1 were significant higher in both groups compared to healthy control (mCuC: p- value<0.0001 and pvalue=0.0012, respectively) (uCuC: p-value=0.0134 and p-value=0.0412, respectively) (% methylation of mCuC pattern in inactive and active SLE vs. healthy control = 22.19 vs. 19.29 and 21.82 vs. 19.29, respectively) (% methylation of uCuC pattern in inactive and active SLE vs. healthy control = 31.74 vs. 29.24 and 31.42 vs. 29.24, respectively). However, there were no significant difference in the % uCmC pattern and % partial methylation of LINE-1 between in both groups and healthy control (uCmC: p- value=0.7711 and p-value=0.6419, respectively) (partial: p-value=0.0686 and p-value=0.1552, respectively) (% methylation of uCmC pattern in inactive and active SLE vs. healthy control = 19.04 vs. 19.44 and 18.77 vs. 19.44, respectively) (% methylation of partial pattern in inactive and active SLE vs. healthy

control = 41.23 vs. 38.74 and 40.6 vs. 38.74, respectively). In summary, all pattern of LINE-1 methylation level has no significant differences between inactive compared to active SLE. (Figure 18) The data were shown in Table 10.

	Data					
LINE-1 methylation	A	∖ge	SLE	DAI-2K	% Net	utrophils
	SLE ne	eutrophils	SLE ne	eutrophils	SLE ne	eutrophils
	r	P-value	r	P-value	r	P-value
<sup>m</sup> C	0.067	0.270	0.019	0.561	0.003	0.817
<sup>m</sup> C <sup>m</sup> C	0.121	0.133	0.030	0.468	0.009	0.685
<sup>m</sup> C <sup>u</sup> C	0.000	0.956	0.026	0.493	0.001	0.874
<sup>u</sup> C <sup>m</sup> C	0.145	0.097	0.010	0.673	0.051	0.340
<sup>u</sup> C <sup>u</sup> C	0.034	0.435	0.005	0.758	0.080	0.227
Partial	0.122	0.132	0.027	0.486	0.037	0.415

 Table 9. Correlation between each pattern of LINE-1 methylation levels with age and some clinical data.

\* indicate significant differences by Pearson's correlation (r) coefficient test.

Numbers in the parentheses indicate mean ± SEM.

**Figure 15.** Correlation between each pattern of LINE-1 methylation levels with age in neutrophils of SLE patients was show. (A) mC, (B) mCmC, (C) mCuC, (D) uCmC, (E) uCuC and (F) partial pattern. Each dot represents an individual patient. P-value calculated by Pearson's correlation coefficient test.



Figure 16. Correlation between each pattern of LINE-1 methylation levels with SLEDAI score in neutrophils of SLE patients was show. (A) mC, (B) mCmC, (C) mCuC, (D) uCmC, (E) uCuC and (F) partial pattern. Each dot represents an individual patient. P-value calculated by Pearson's correlation coefficient test.



C LINE-1 methylation pattern and SLEDAI score in neutrophil D LINE-1 methylation pattern and SLEDAI score in neutrophil



E LINE-1 methylation pattern and SLEDAI score in neutrophil F LINE-1 methylation pattern and SLEDAI score in neutrophil



**Figure 17**. Correlation between each pattern of LINE-1 methylation levels with %neutrophils in SLE patients was show. (A) mC, (B) mCmC, (C) mCuC, (D) uCmC, (E) uCuC and (F) partial pattern. Each dot represents an individual patient. P-value calculated by Pearson's correlation coefficient test.



**Figure 18**. Each pattern of LINE-1 methylation levels in different SLE disease activity was shown in Mean ± SEM. P-value calculated by unpaired t-test two-tailed analysis.



	Normal control	Inactive SLE	Active SLE
LINE-1	Neutrophils	Neutrophils	Neutrophils
methylation	(n=20)	(n=10)	(n=10)
<sup>m</sup> C	51.38	47.63	48.27
C	±2.82	±1.36	±1.45
<sup>m</sup> o <sup>m</sup> o	32.01	27.02	27.96
CC	±3.51	±3.24	±2.66
mouo	19.29	22.19	21.82
	±1.7	±1.27	±2.01
<sup>u</sup> o <sup>m</sup> o	19.44	19.04	18.77
	±3.6	±3.39	±3.75
<sup>u</sup> o <sup>u</sup> o	29.24	31.74	31.42
	±2.88	±1.02	±1.99
	38.74	41.23	40.6
Partiai	±3.08	±3.96	±3.69

 Table 10: Alteration of LINE-1 methylation in disease activity (SLE patients were divided into active and inactive groups based on their SLEDAI-2K score)

*	
P-value = 0.0005 (mC, normal control compared to inactive SLE)	P-value = 0.0
* P-value = 0.0008 (mCmC, normal control compared to inactive SLE)	P-value = 0.0
P-value <0.0001 $^{*}$ (mCuC, normal control compared to inactive SLE)	P-value = 0.0
P-value = 0.7711 (uCmC, normal control compared to inactive SLE)	P-value = 0.6
* P-value = 0.0134 (uCuC, normal control compared to inactive SLE)	P-value = 0.0
P-value = 0.0686 (Partial, normal control compared to inactive SLE)	P-value = 0.1
P-value = 0.3303 (mC, inactive SLE compared to active SLE)	P-value = 0.4
P-value = 0.6349 (mCuC, inactive SLE compared to active SLE)	P-value = 0.8
P-value = 0.6595 (uCuC, inactive SLE compared to active SLE)	P-value = 0.7

P-value = 0.0029 (mC, normal control compared to active SLE)
P-value = 0.0034 (mCmC, normal control compared to active SLE)
P-value = 0.0012 (mCuC, normal control compared to active SLE)
P-value = 0.6419 (uCmC, normal control compared to active SLE)
P-value = 0.0412 (uCuC, normal control compared to active SLE)
P-value = 0.1552 (Partial, normal control compared to active SLE)
P-value = 0.4859 (mCmC, inactive SLE compared to active SLE)
P-value = 0.8716 (uCmC, inactive SLE compared to active SLE)
P-value = 0.7191 (Partial, inactive SLE compared to active SLE)

#### Association of Alu methylation with age and some clinical data in SLE

We analyzed the association between each pattern of Alu methylation patterns and levels with some clinical data of patients with SLE including age, SLEDAI score and neutrophils count. The data were shown in Table 11. Surprisingly, mCmC and uCmC of Alu methylation levels were significant positive and negative correlation with age respectively. (P-value = 0.0149, r = 0.2872 and P-value = 0.0111, r = 0.3070, respectively). (Figure 19) We found no significant correlations between each patterns of Alu methylation levels with SLEDAI score (Figure 20) and neutrophils count. (Figure 21)

DNA methylation levels of Alu in neutrophils from patient with inactive and active SLE and healthy group were compared. There were no significant difference in Alu methylation pattern and disease activity of neutrophils (10 inactive SLE vs. 10 active SLE and 20 healthy donors). The precise %methylation (mC) and % mCmC pattern of Alu were no significant lower in both groups compared to healthy control (mC: p-value=0.0773 and p-value=0.2300, respectively) (mCmC: p-value=0.2427 and p-value=0.0923, respectively) (% methylation of mC pattern in inactive and active SLE vs. healthy control = 79.66 vs. 81.04and 80.14 vs. 81.04, respectively) (% methylation of mCmC pattern in inactive and active SLE vs. healthy control = 46.45 vs. 48.70 and 45.32 vs. 48.70, respectively). Moreover, the % mCuC, % uCmC and % uCuC pattern of Alu were no significant higher in both groups compared to healthy control (mCuC: p- value=0.5845 and p-value=0.4807, respectively) (uCmC: p- value=0.7227 and p-value=0.0926, respectively) (uCuC: pvalue=0.0773 and p-value=0.2300, respectively) (% methylation of mCuC pattern in inactive and active SLE vs. healthy control = 15.42 vs. 14.94 and 15.60 vs. 14.94, respectively) (% methylation of uCmC pattern in inactive and active SLE vs. healthy control = 17.79 vs. 17.40 and 19.22 vs. 17.40, respectively) (% methylation of uCuC pattern in inactive and active SLE vs. healthy control = 20.34 vs. 18.96 and 19.86 vs. 18.96, respectively). In summary, all pattern of Alu methylation level has no significant difference in inactive SLE compared to active SLE. (Figure 22) The data were shown in Table 12.

<b>A</b> I	Data						
Alu	ļ	∖ge	SLED	DAI-2K	% Net	utrophils	
methylation	SLE ne	SLE neutrophils		utrophils	SLE ne	SLE neutrophils	
	r	P-value	r	P-value	r	P-value	
<sup>m</sup> C	0.007	0.727	0.045	0.371	0.020	0.557	
<sup>m</sup> C <sup>m</sup> C	0.287	0.015	0.002	0.853	0.140	0.104	
<sup>m</sup> C <sup>u</sup> C	0.142	0.102	0.002	0.860	0.004	0.801	
<sup>u</sup> C <sup>m</sup> C	0.308	0.011*	0.033	0.441	0.170	0.071	
<sup>u</sup> C <sup>u</sup> C	0.007	0.727	0.045	0.371	0.020	0.557	

 Table 11. Correlation between each pattern of Alu methylation levels with age and some clinical data.

 $^{\ast}$  indicate significant differences by Pearson's correlation (r) coefficient test. Numbers in the parentheses indicate mean  $\pm$  SEM.

**Figure 19**. Correlation between each pattern of Alu methylation levels with age in neutrophils of SLE patients was show. (A) mC, (B) mCmC, (C) mCuC, (D) uCmC and (E) uCuC. Each dot represents an individual patient. P-value calculated by Pearson's correlation coefficient test.



Figure 20. Correlation between each pattern of Alu methylation levels with SLEDAI score in neutrophils of SLE patients was show. (A) mC, (B) mCmC, (C) mCuC, (D) uCmC and (E) uCuC. Each dot represents an individual patient. P-value calculated by Pearson's correlation coefficient test.



 $m C\,$  ALU methylation pattern and SLEDAI score in neutrophil  $m D\,$  ALU methylation pattern and SLEDAI score in neutrophil



E ALU methylation pattern and SLEDAI score in neutrophil



**Figure 21**. Correlation between each pattern of Alu methylation levels with %neutrophils in SLE patients was show. (A) mC, (B) mCmC, (C) mCuC, (D) uCmC and (E) uCuC. Each dot represents an individual patient. P-value calculated by Pearson's correlation coefficient test.







	Normal control	Inactive SLE	Active SLE
Alu methylation	Neutrophils	Neutrophils	Neutrophils
	(n=20)	(n=10)	(n=10)
m	81.04	79.66	80.14
U	±2.04	±1.68	±1.53
<sup>m</sup> o <sup>m</sup> o	48.70	46.45	45.32
	±5.00	±4.53	±5.00
mouo	14.94	15.42	15.60
	±2.44	±1.71	±2.28
<sup>u</sup> o <sup>m</sup> o	17.40	17.79	19.22
	±2.37	±3.60	±3.26
<sup>u</sup> o <sup>u</sup> o	18.96	20.34	19.86
	±2.04	±1.68	±1.53

 Table 12: Alteration of Alu methylation in disease activity (SLE patients were divided into active and inactive groups based on their SLEDAI-2K score)

P-value = 0.0773 (mC, normal control compared to inactive SLE)
P-value = 0.2427 (mCmC, normal control compared to inactive SLE)
P-value = 0.5845 (mCuC, normal control compared to inactive SLE)
P-value = 0.7227 (uCmC, normal control compared to inactive SLE)
P-value = 0.0773 (uCuC, normal control compared to inactive SLE)
P-value = 0.5203 (mC, inactive SLE compared to active SLE)
P-value = 0.5203 (uCuC, inactive SLE compared to active SLE)
P-value = 0.5203 (uCuC, inactive SLE compared to active SLE)

P-value = 0.2300 (mC, normal control compared to active SLE) P-value = 0.0923 (mCmC, normal control compared to active SLE) P-value = 0.4807 (mCuC, normal control compared to active SLE) P-value = 0.0926 (uCmC, normal control compared to active SLE) P-value = 0.2300 (uCuC, normal control compared to active SLE) P-value = 0.6017 (mCmC, inactive SLE compared to active SLE) P-value = 0.3668 (uCmC, inactive SLE compared to active SLE) Association of HERV-E and HERV-K methylation with age and some clinical data in SLE

We analyzed the association between HERV-E and HERV-K methylation levels with some clinical data from patients with SLE including age, SLEDAI score and neutrophils count. The data were shown in Table 13 (Figure 23) and Table 14 (Figure 24) respectively. We found no significant correlation between HERV-E and HERV-K methylation levels with age, SLEDAI score, and neutrophils count.

We analyzed the association of HERV-E and HERV-K methylation and severity of diseases. There were no significant difference in HERV-E and HERV-K methylation and disease activity of neutrophils from 10 inactive SLE and 10 active SLE and 20 healthy donors. We found that percent methylation of HERV-E and HERV-K in neutrophils from both group was higher than healthy donors (HERV-E: p-value=0.5651and p-value=0.6150, respectively) (% methylation of HERV-E in inactive and active SLE neutrophils vs. normal neutrophils are 72.74 vs. 72.07 and 72.67 vs. 72.07, respectively) (HERV-K: p-value= 0.2943 and p-value= 0.1410, respectively) (% methylation of HERV-K in inactive and active SLE neutrophils vs. normal neutrophils are 56.17 vs. 53.75 and 49.46 vs. 53.75, respectively). In summary, HERV-E and HERV-K methylation level has not significantly different in inactive SLE compared to active SLE (HERV-E: p-value=0.9507) (% methylation of HERV-E in inactive SLE vs. active SLE are 72.74 vs. 72.67). (Figure 25) The data were shown in Table 15. (HERV-K: p-value= 0.1190) (% methylation of HERV-K in inactive SLE vs. active SLE vs. active SLE are 56.17 vs. 72.67). (Figure 25) The data were shown in Table 15. (HERV-K: p-value= 0.1190) (% methylation of HERV-K in inactive SLE vs. active SLE are 56.17 vs. 51.75).

HERV-E methylation		Data					
	ŀ	Age		SLEDAI-2K		% Neutrophils	
	SLE ne	SLE neutrophils		SLE neutrophils		SLE neutrophils	
	r	P-value	r	P-value	r	P-value	
% Methylation	0.062	0.292	0.008	0.709	0.035	0.430	

Table 13. Correlation between HERV-E methylation levels with age and some clinical data.

\* indicate significant differences by Pearson's correlation (r) coefficient test.

Numbers in the parentheses indicate mean  $\pm$  SEM.

**Figure 23.** Correlation between HERV-E methylation levels with age (A), SLEDAI score (B) and %neutrophils (C) in neutrophils of SLE patients was show. Each dot represents an individual patient. P-value calculated by Pearson's correlation coefficient test.



HERV-K		Data					
	A	Age		SLEDAI-2K		% Neutrophils	
methylation	SLE neutrophils		SLE neutrophils		SLE neutrophils		
	r	P-value	r	P-value	r	P-value	
% Methylation	0.051	0.339	0.133	0.114	0.094	0.188	

Table 14. Correlation between HERV-K methylation levels with age and some clinical data

\* indicate significant differences by Pearson's correlation (r) coefficient test.

Numbers in the parentheses indicate mean ± SEM.

**Figure 24**. Correlation between HERV-K methylation levels with age (A), SLEDAI score (B) and %neutrophils (C) in neutrophils of SLE patients was show. Each dot represents an individual patient. P-value calculated by Pearson's correlation coefficient test.



**Figure 25**. HERV-E methylation levels in different SLE disease activity was shown in Mean ± SEM. P-value calculated by unpaired t-test two-tailed analysis.



 Table 15: Alteration of HERV-E methylation in disease activity (SLE patients were divided into active and inactive groups based on their SLEDAI-2K score)

	Normal control	Inactive SLE	Active SLE
methylation	Normal control	Neutrophils	Neutrophils
methylation	(n=20)	(n=10)	(n=10)
0/ Mathylatian	72.07	72.74	72.67
% Methylation	±3.27	±2.25	±2.58

P-value = 0.5651 (normal control compared to inactive SLE)

P-value = 0.6150 (normal control compared to active SLE)

P-value = 0.9507 (inactive SLE compared to active SLE)

**Figure26**. HERV-K methylation levels in different SLE disease activity was shown in Mean ± SEM. P-value calculated by unpaired t-test two-tailed analysis.



 Table 16: Alteration of HERV-K methylation in disease activity (SLE patients were divided into active and inactive groups based on their SLEDAI-2K score)

	Normal control	Inactive SLE	Active SLE
methylation	Neutrophils	Neutrophils	Neutrophils
metrylation	(n=20)	(n=10)	(n=10)
0/ Mathulation	53.75	56.17	49.46
% Methylation	±4.97	±7.33	±10.68

P-value = 0.5651 (normal control compared to inactive SLE)

P-value = 0.6150 (normal control compared to active SLE)

P-value = 0.9507 (inactive SLE compared to active SLE)

# The correlation between intragenic LINE-1 and differential expressions in SLE neutrophils expression array

Several studies have proved that the intragenic LINE-1 (gene containing LINE-1) hypomethylation in cancer cells can regulate host gene expressions in cis (23). It was proposed that intragenic LINE-1 RNAs repress host gene expression via the nuclear RNAinduced silencing complex (RISC) (23). Therefore, we would like to investigate whether intragenic LINE-1 hypomethylation correlate with gene expression in SLE neutrophil. Genes processing LINE-1 were determined by L1base (118) and listed by Aporntrwan et al (23). CU-DREAMX program was used to evaluate the association of genes containing intragenic LINE-1 and level of gene expression. Genes containing LINE-1 were classified into four groups depending on the regulation of gene and the presence of intragenic LINE-1 1) genes containing L1s 1454 genes, 2) genes with sense L1s 336 genes, 3) genes with antisense L1s 832 genes and 4) genes with both sense and antisense L1s 286 genes. The Chi-square test to evaluate intragenic LINE-1 influence SLE neutrophils expression by the intersection between expression microarray data available from GEO, GSE27427 and genecontaining LINE-1 (4 groups) were analyzed (Table 17). The result showed significant association between the up-regulated genes in SLE neutrophils compared to normal neutrophils and genes containing LINE-1s (p-value GSE27427 =  $7.74X10^{-3}$ ; OR = 1.28). Interestingly, the significant association is mainly among genes with antisense LINE-1s (pvalue GSE27427 =  $6.22X10^{-3}$ : OR = 1.38) (Table 18).

**Table 17**: 2x2 table of Chi-square test to evaluate intragenic LINE-1 can control the expression of genes in neutrophils of SLE patients. Gene- containing LINE-1 was classified into four groups depending on the regulation of genetic and the presence of intragenic LINE-1 (A: Genes containing L1s 1454 genes, B: Genes with sense L1s 336 genes, C: Genes with antisense L1s 832 genes and D: Genes with both sense and antisense L1s 286 genes). The down-or up-regulation of a gene were denoted by "Up" and "Down" and this

experiment determined by paired t-test (P-value threshold is set at 0.01). While, genes containing or without intragenic LINE-1 were denoted by LINE-1 and No LINE-1, respectively. The p-values of 2x2 tables were obtained from Chi-square distribution.

A: 2x2 table of Chi-square test to evaluate intragenic LINE-1 (Genes containing L1s 1454 genes) influence methylation levels in neutrophils of SLE patients.

	(	GSE27427 SLE neutrophil					
	Down (P<0.01)	Not-Down	Up (P<0.01)	Not-Up			
LINE-1	67	1,179	137	1,109			
No LINE-1	2,284	21,467	2,088	21,663			
	P value = 0.000000582		P value = 0.007743				
	Odds ratio = 0.5	Odds ratio = 0.53		28			
	Lower 95% CI = 0.42 Upper 95% CI = 0.69		Lower 95% CI = 1.07				
			Upper 95% CI =	= 1.54			

**B**: 2x2 table of Chi-square test to evaluate intragenic LINE-1 (Genes with sense L1s 336 genes) influence methylation levels in neutrophils of SLE patients.

	GSE27427 SLE neutrophil					
	Down (P<0.01)	Not-Down	Up (P<0.01)	Not-Up		
LINE-1	22	261	27	256		
No LINE-1	2,329	22,385	2,198	22,516		
	P value = 0.344406		P value = 0.703951			
	Odds ratio = 0.8	Odds ratio = 0.81		Odds ratio = 1.08		
	Lower 95% CI = 0.52 Upper 95% CI = 1.25		Lower 95% CI = 0.72			
			Upper 95% CI = 1.61			

	GSE27427 SLE neutrophil					
	Down (P<0.01)	Not-Down	Up (P<0.01)	Not-Up		
LINE-1	37	686	85	638		
No LINE-1	2,314	21,960	2,140	22,134		
	P value = 0.0000	P value = 0.0000612		P value = 0.006215		
	Odds ratio = 0.51 Lower 95% CI = 0.37		Odds ratio = 1.38			
			Lower 95% CI = 1.09			
	Upper 95% CI =	0.71	Upper 95% Cl =	= 1.74		

**C**: 2x2 table of Chi-square test to evaluate intragenic LINE-1 (Genes with antisense L1s 832 genes) influence methylation levels in neutrophils of SLE patients.

D: 2x2 table of Chi-square test to evaluate intragenic LINE-1 (Genes with both sense and antisense L1s 286 genes) influence methylation levels in neutrophils of SLE patients.

	(	GSE27427 SLE neutrophil								
	Down (P<0.01) Not-Down Up (P<0.01) Not-									
LINE-1	8	232	25 2							
No LINE-1	2,343	22,414	2,200	22,557						
	P value = 0.0012	203	P value = 0.407372							
	Odds ratio = 0.3	3	Odds ratio = 1.19							
	Lower 95% CI =	0.16	Lower 95% CI = 0.79							
	Upper 95% CI =	0.67	Upper 95% CI = 1.81							

	Canaa aantai	Canas containing Canas with sansa					Genes with both sense			
	Genes containing		Genes with	sense	Genes with ani	Isense	and antisense L1s (286 genes)			
	L1s (1454 ge	L1s (1454 genes)		genes)	L1s (832 ge	nes)				
_	P-value	OR	P-value	OR	P-value	P-value OR		OR		
GSE27427 SLE neutrophil VS.	7.74E-03*	1.28	0.7	1.08	6.22E-03*	1.38	0.41	1.19		
Normal neutrophils										
Up-regulation										
(p<0.01)										
GSE27427 SLE neutrophil VS.	5.82E-07	0.53	0.34	0.81	6.13E-05	0.51	0.0012	0.33		
Normal neurophils										
Down-regulation										
(p<0.01)										

 Table 18:
 The expression status of genes containing LINE-1s compared between SLE neutrophils vs. normal neutrophils.

# Bioinformatics analysis of the up or down-regulated genes containing LINE-1s that involved in the biological processes

To identify functional networks, genes with intragenic LINE-1 that associated with the expression of genes in neutrophils of SLE were performed gene category p-value analysis using the online available DAVID bioinformatics resources. The functional annotation chart with a group P-value less than or equal to 0.05 were analyzed. From 67 down-regulation genes and 137 up-regulation genes (Table 17A), 22 down-regulation genes and 27 up-regulation genes (Table 17B), 37 down-regulation genes and 85 upregulation genes (Table 17C), 8 down-regulation genes and 25 up-regulation genes (Table 17D). (Table 19) Interestingly, the up-regulated genes containing LINE-1s involved in the biological processes of cell apoptosis and induction of programmed cell death (Table 19 B). The down-regulated genes containing LINE-1s were found to be innate immune response, lymphocyte mediated immunity and leukocyte mediated immunity (Table 19 A). Furthermore, from 137 up-regulation genes (Table 17A in appendix B), the significant pvalue was cell death process genes that involve in the calcium signaling pathway were present in this category (Figure 27). Meanwhile, 67 down-regulation genes (Table17A in appendix B), the significant p-value was innate immune response, lymphocyte mediated immunity and leukocyte mediated immunity genes that involve in the complement and coagulation cascades were present in this category (Figure 28).

**Table 19.** Functional annotation chart identified for up or down-regulation genes from genes containing L1s group by DAVIDFunctional Classification Tool. Official full name of these genes were showed in Appendix B

A: SLE down-regulated genes with genes containing L1s

Category	Phenotype function	P-value	LINE-1 down-regulated gene in SLE neutrophils
GOTERM_BP_FAT	innate immune response	0.014	CD46, CR1, IL1RL2, LYST
GOTERM_BP_FAT	lymphocyte mediated immunity	0.028	CD46, CR1, LYST
GOTERM_BP_FAT	leukocyte mediated immunity	0.04	CD46, CR1, LYST

## B: SLE up-regulated genes with genes containing L1s

Category	Phenotype function	P-value	LINE-1 up-regulated gene in SLE neutrophils
GOTERM_BP_FAT	induction of apoptosis	0.026	AKAP13, CD38, GCH1, JAK2, C6, PTEN, VAV3
GOTERM_BP_FAT	induction of programmed cell death	0.027	AKAP13, CD38, GCH1, JAK2, C6, PTEN, VAV3
GOTERM_BP_FAT	positive regulation of apoptosis	0.033	AKAP13, CD38, GCH1, JAK2, C6, PTEN, STK3, VAV3
GOTERM_BP_FAT	positive regulation of programmed cell death	0.034	AKAP13, CD38, GCH1, JAK2, C6, PTEN, STK3, VAV3
GOTERM_BP_FAT	positive regulation of cell death	0.035	AKAP13, CD38, GCH1, JAK2, C6, PTEN, STK3, VAV3
GOTERM_BP_FAT	cellular calcium ion homeostasis	0.041	ATP7B, CD38, JAK2, CYSLTR1, PLCE1
GOTERM_BP_FAT	elevation of cytosolic calcium ion concentration	0.043	CD38, JAK2, CYSLTR1, PLCE1
GOTERM_BP_FAT	calcium ion homeostasis	0.045	ATP7B, CD38, JAK2, CYSLTR1, PLCE1
GOTERM_BP_FAT	cytosolic calcium ion homeostasis	0.052	CD38, JAK2, CYSLTR1, PLCE1

C: SLE down-regulated genes with genes sense L1s

Category	Phenotype function	P-value	LINE-1 down-regulated gene in SLE neutrophils
GOTERM_BP_FAT	cytoskeleton-dependent intracellular transport	0.067	DST, MYO5A
GOTERM_BP_FAT	macromolecule catabolic process	0.082	FAF1, GAN, PYGB, PSMA1

D: SLE up-regulated genes with genes sense L1s were identified functional annotation chart by DAVID Functional Classification

Tool. The result showed that zero chart records.

## E: SLE down-regulated genes with genes antisense L1s

Category	Phenotype function	P-value	LINE-1 down-regulated gene in SLE neutrophils
GOTERM_BP_FAT	innate immune response	0.027	CD46, IL1RL2, LYST
GOTERM_BP_FAT	sexual reproduction	0.051	CD46, FANCC, MICALCL, DNAH9

## F: SLE up-regulated genes with genes antisense L1s

Category	Phenotype function	P-value	LINE-1 up-regulated gene in SLE neutrophils
GOTERM_BP_FAT	defense response	0.016	ABCC9, CLEC5A, DDX58, GCH1, C6, ITGB1, IL15, PLD1
GOTERM_BP_FAT	regulation of defense response to virus by host	0.038	DDX58, IL15
GOTERM_BP_FAT	regulation of hydrolase activity	0.056	RABGAP1L, RICTOR, CHRM2, C6, PLCE1
GOTERM_BP_FAT	response to zinc ion	0.07	ATP7B, PTEN
GOTERM_BP_FAT	regulation of protein kinase B signaling cascade	0.07	RICTOR, PTEN
GOTERM_BP_FAT	trans membrane receptor protein tyrosine kinase signaling	0.071	EPHB1, EPS15, PTEN, PLCE1

	pathway		
GOTERM_BP_FAT	immune response	0.074	OAS3, ABCC9, CLEC5A, DDX58, GCH1, C6, IL15
GOTERM_BP_FAT	hemostasis	0.078	AP3B1, HMCN1, TFPI

G: SLE down-regulated genes with genes both sense and antisense L1s were identified functional annotation chart by DAVID Functional Classification Tool. The result showed that zero chart records.

H: SLE up-regulated genes with genes both sense and antisense L1s

Category	Phenotype function	P-value	LINE-1 up-regulated gene in SLE neutrophils
GOTERM_BP_FAT	cell adhesion	0.0079	DSCAM, COL4A6, COL24A1, CNTNAP5, FNDC3A
GOTERM_BP_FAT	biological adhesion	0.0079	DSCAM, COL4A6, COL24A1, CNTNAP5, FNDC3A
GOTERM_BP_FAT	regulation of apoptosis	0.066	AKAP13, STK3, TEX11, VAV3
GOTERM_BP_FAT	regulation of programmed cell death	0.067	AKAP13, STK3, TEX11, VAV3
GOTERM_BP_FAT	regulation of cell death	0.068	AKAP13, STK3, TEX11, VAV3
GOTERM_BP_FAT	positive regulation of apoptosis	0.09	AKAP13, STK3, VAV3
GOTERM_BP_FAT	positive regulation of programmed cell death	0.091	AKAP13, STK3, VAV3
GOTERM_BP_FAT	positive regulation of cell death	0.092	AKAP13, STK3, VAV3



Figure 27. Calcium signaling pathway. Genes that are up-regulated are shown in red star.





### CHAPTER V

#### DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

Currently, the exact etiology of SLE is still obscure. However, various evidences suggest a key important role for epigenetics in human pathologies, especially, dysregulation of DNA methylation processes. Several papers reported the abnormalities of DNA methylation level in some important immune cells of SLE patients by independent studies which, involved demethylation processes. They found that leukocytes (5), PBMCs (6, 7), T-cell (30) and CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cell DNA (8-11) of SLE patients have DNA hypomethylation comparing to healthy donor. Moreover, several studies suggested the potential role of IRSs to regulate cellular functions. Previous studies showed that treating normal lymphocyte with 5-azacytidine can reactivate IRSs transcript (HERV) (39). In addition, some IRS, LINE-1 and HERV-E transcripts were detected in patients with SLE (123, 124). Not only PBMC and lymphocyte are those involve with pathogenesis of SLE, but neutrophils also play an important role. Neutrophil are the large fraction of the immune cells which is critical to the pathogenesis of SLE (44). Specifically, several recent papers reported the abnormalities in cell-death process of SLE neutrophils (45-48). However, there has never been studied on methylation in neutrophils of SLE patients. Similar to previous finding in lymphocytes, we hypothesized that DNA methylation status of LINE-1, ALU, HERV-E, and HERV-K in neutrophil of SLE patients might be significant difference from normal control and significant correlated with SLE disease activity. This study aimed to determine and compared the methylation level and patterns at LINE-1, ALU, HERV-E, and HERV-K sequences in neutrophil from healthy control, inactive and active SLE patients. We also analyzed the association between methylation level and patterns of LINE-1, Alu, HERV-E, and HERV-K and some clinical data of SLE patients. Furthermore, we used the bioinformatics tool to

investigate the correlation between intragenic LINE-1 and differential gene expressions in SLE neutrophils using expression array (GSE27427).

First, we determined and compared the methylation level and patterns at LINE-1, ALU, HERV-E, and HERV-K sequences in neutrophil from healthy control, inactive and active SLE patients. Our experiments showed that some methylation level and pattern of LINE-1 was significant difference (precise methylation (mC) and hypermethylated (mCmC)) in neutrophils from SLE patients. The neutrophils from SLE patients included both active and inactive group have significantly lower LINE-1 methylation than healthy control. To confirm this, hypomethylation (uCuC) and %mCuC pattern in neutrophils from SLE patients were significantly higher than healthy control. This finding is similar with previous studied in CD4<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes, CD8<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes, and B lymphocytes of SLE patient as well as in lymphocyte of synovial fibroblast of rheumatoid arthritis patients (37, 38). Furthermore, previous studied showed hypomethylation of LINE-1 but not Alu in keratinocyte from psoriasis (37). These evidences suggested that the aberration of the methylation level of LINE-1 might be one key feature in autoimmune diseases in various cell types. These hypomethylation of LINE-1 may affect cellular gene expression and contribute to the pathogenesis of SLE, which remain to be further explored.

However, the methylation level and pattern of Alu, HERV-E and HERV-K in neutrophils from SLE patients include active and inactive group compared to healthy control were not significantly different. This finding is differ from some previous studies that reported the significant differences of methylation indices between CD4<sup>+</sup>T cell and CD8<sup>+</sup>T cell or non-CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell of HERV-E and HERV-K (5, 6). In lymphocytes, there is one reported of the significant differences of methylation patterns of HERV-E and HERV-K between T and B cells (66). Interestingly, in aging cells the hypomethylation of Alu element and HERV-K, but not LINE-1 were reported (36). Therefore, it seems that distinction of methylation levels of Alu, HERV-E and HERV-K is cell type and disease-specific.

Second, we also analyzed the association between methylation level and patterns of LINE-1, Alu, HERV-E, and HERV-K and some clinical data of SLE patients. Interestingly, we did not observed any significant correlation between methylation level of IRSs with disease activity or neutrophil count at all. However, our result showed that some methylation level and pattern of Alu, mCmC and uCmC pattern has significant positive and negative correlation with age respectively. This finding is differ from previous studies that found a negatively associated between age and methylation levels of Alu in PBMC of healthy donor. Hypomethylation of Alu element occurred during ages 34–68 year (36). Our result showed that association between methylation levels and patterns of Alu and age of neutrophil and PBMC is different. Therefore, we suggest that Alu element mechanisms is cell type and disease/condition-specific and may be involve with aging process.

In summary, we only observed a significant hypomethylation of LINE-1 in neutrophil of SLE patients. Next, we would like to explore whether these LINE-1 hypomethylation has any functional significance or not. Therefore, we investigated the correlation between intragenic LINE-1 and differential expressions in SLE neutrophils expression array (GSE27427) whether intragenic LINE-1 control host genes in SLE. The gene expression in SLE neutrophil was compared with genes possessing intragenic LINE-1. We observed the higher prevalence of up-regulated of genes containing LINE-1s in SLE neutrophils compared to normal neutrophils by CU-DREAM X (25, 117). In addition, we analyzed the association with different type of LINE-1. Interestingly, only antisense LINE-1s have higher prevalence of up-regulated genes containing LINE-1s. Recent year, Aporntrwan et al. reported that the consequences of intragenic LINE-1 (gene containing LINE-1) hypomethylation in cancer cells can regulate host gene expressions in cis by LINE-1. They found that intragenic LINE-1 RNAs repress host gene expression via the nuclear RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC) (23). Therefore, we suggest that the effect of hypomethylation of intragenic antisense LINE-1 in SLE neutrophils may be different from the

mechanism in cancer. Other disease related factors should be responsible for this difference.

We hypothesized that some genes that hypomethylation of LINE-1 might influent the expression of some genes in close proximity of LINE-1 especially the genes that related to SLE pathogenesis. Therefore, we explored the phenotypic data of up-regulated of genes containing LINE-1s by online available DAVID Bioinformatics Resources, bioinformatics analysis. The high prevalence of up-regulated genes containing LINE-1s involved in the biological processes of cell including induction of apoptosis and induction of programmed cell death. That may be involved in pathogenesis of SLE through cell death processes. (Table 19 B). The down-regulated genes containing LINE-1s involved with innate immune response, lymphocyte mediated immunity and leukocyte mediated immunity. That may be involved in pathogenesis of SLE through neutrophil cells (Table 19 A). Furthermore, from 137 up-regulation genes (Table 17A in appendix B), the significant p-value was cell death process genes that involve in the calcium signaling pathway (Figure 27). It has long been known that Ca2<sup>+</sup> signals control an essential cell functions and are necessary for cell survival. Recently it has become clear that cellular Ca2<sup>+</sup> overload, or interference of intracellular Ca2<sup>+</sup> compartmentalization, can cause cytotoxicity and trigger either apoptotic or necrotic cell death (125). For the 67 down-regulation genes (Table17A in appendix B), the significant p-value was innate immune response, lymphocyte mediated immunity and leukocyte mediated immunity genes. These phenotypes involve with the complement and coagulation cascades (Figure 28). The 67 down-regulated genes contain LINE-1s may influent inflammation of innate immune cell especially, neutrophils through complement and coagulation cascades. The dysregulation of the cascade activities or functions of inhibitors in these systems can result in clinical manifestations of disease, such as systemic lupus erythematosus, or ischemia-reperfusion injury, with critical thrombotic and inflammatory complications (126). The relationship between complement and coagulation cascades may involve with complement-associated inflammatory responses in SLE neutrophils. However,

this is only a result from association study and bioinformatics data, further functional study are required to prove whether these genes above are in fact regulated by LINE-1 hypomethylation or not.

In conclusion, the hypomethylation (uCuC) in neutrophils of SLE patients was interspersed repetitive sequences (IRSs) specific, mainly found in LINE-1 rather than Alu, HERV-E and HERV-K. We proposed consequence mechanism of LINE-1 hypomethylation in SLE that LINE-1 transcripts might have an effect in *cis* to up-regulate some cell death processes genes. Further study to find out the functional role of IRSs hypomethylation might lead to the discovery of novel pathogenesis pathway in SLE neutrophils. 

 Table 20: Association between the dynamic of DNA methylation levels of interspersed repetitive sequences (IRSs) and human diseases or condition.

						D	isease/C	Conditic	n					
100	Cancer			SLE								Aging		
1492	Cancer			В	cell	CD3	<sup>+</sup> T cell	CD4	<sup>+</sup> T cell	CD8	<sup>+</sup> T cell	Neu	trophil	DDMO
	cells	PBMC	C Leukocyte	Active	Inactive	Active	Inactive	Active	Inactive	Active	Inactive	Active	Inactive	РВМС
LINE-1	Нуро-	Нуро-	Нуро-	Нуро-	Нуро-	-	-	Нуро-	-	Нуро-	-	Нуро-	Нуро-	_
Alu	Нуро-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Нуро-	-	-	Нуро-
HERV-E	Нуро-	-	-	-	-	Нуро-	-	Нуро-	-	-	-	-	-	-
HERV-K	Нуро-	-	-	-	-	-	Нуро-	-	Нуро-	-	-	-	-	Нуро-

Abbreviations: Hypo-: Hypomethylation, -: Unaltered

### REFERENCES

- [1] Nguyen C, Limaye N, Wakeland EK. Susceptibility genes in the pathogenesis of murine lupus. Arthritis Res. 2002, 4 (suppl 3):S255-S263
- [2] Gualtierotti R, Biggioggero M, Penatti AE, Meroni PL. Updating on the pathogenesis of systemic lupus erythematosus. Autoimmun Rev. 2010 Nov;10(1):3-7.
- [3] Rodenhiser D, Mann M. Epigenetics and human disease: translating basic biology into clinical applications. CMAJ. 2006 Jan 31;174(3):341-8.
- [4] Costenbader KH, Gay S, Alarcón-Riquelme ME, Iaccarino L, Doria A. Genes, epigenetic regulation and environmental factors: Which is the most relevant in developing autoimmune diseases? Autoimmun Rev. 2012 Jun;11(8):604-9.
- [5] Biola M. Javierre, Agustin F. Fernandez, Julia Richter, et al. Changes in the pattern of DNA methylation associate with twin discordance in systemic lupus erythematosus. Genome Res. 2010, doi:10.1101/gr.100289.109
- [6] Liu C, Ou T, Wu C, Li R, Lin Y, Lin Ch, Tsai W, Liu H, Yen J. Global DNA methylation, DNMT1, and MBD2 in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Lupus. 2011;20(2):131-6.
- [7] Wang, G.S., et al. Ultraviolet B exposure of peripheral blood mononuclear cells of patients with systemic lupus erythematosus inhibits DNA methylation. Lupus. 18 (Oct 2009): 1037-1044.
- [8] Luo Y, Li Y, Su Y, Yin H, Hu N, Wang S, Lu Q. Abnormal DNA methylation in T cells from patients with subacute cutaneous lupus erythematosus. Br J Dermatol. 159,4(2008 Sep):827-33.
- [9] Lei W, Luo Y, Lei W, Luo Y, Yan K, Zhao S, Li Y, Qiu X, Zhou Y, Long H, Zhao M, Liang Y, Su Y, Lu Q. Abnormal DNA methylation in CD4+ T cells from patients with systemic lupus erythematosus, systemic sclerosis, and dermatomyositis. Scand J Rheumatol. 38,5(2009):369-74.
- Balada, E., Ordi-Ros, J., Serrano-Acedo, S., Martinez-Lostao, L., Vilardell-Tarres,
  M. Transcript overexpression of the MBD2 and MBD4 genes in CD4+ T cells from systemic lupus erythematosus patients. J Leukoc Biol. 81 (Jun 2007): 1609-1616.
- [11] Balada, E., et al. Transcript levels of DNA methyltransferases DNMT1, DNMT3A and DNMT3B in CD4+ T cells from patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Immunology. 124 (Jul 2008): 339-347.
- [12] Wen, Z.K., and others. DNA hypomethylation is crucial for apoptotic DNA to induce systemic lupus erythematosus-like autoimmune disease in SLE nonsusceptible mice. Rheumatology (Oxford) 46, 12 (2007): 1796-1803.
- [13] Mi XB, Zeng FQ. Hypomethylation of interleukin-4 and -6 promoters in T cells from systemic lupus erythematosus patients. Acta Pharmacol Sin. 2008 Jan;29(1):105-12.
- [14] Zhao M, Tang J, Gao F, Wu X, Liang Y, Yin H, Lu Q. Hypomethylation of IL10 and IL13 promoters in CD4+ T cells of patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. J Biomed Biotechnol. 2010;2010:931018.

- [15] Xu J, Zhang G, Cheng Y, Chen B, Dong Y, Li L, Xu L, Xu X, Lu Z, Wen J. Hypomethylation of the HTR1A promoter region and high expression of HTR1A in the peripheral blood lymphocytes of patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Lupus. 2011 Jun;20(7):678-89.
- [16] Sekigawa I, Kawasaki M, Ogasawara H, Kaneda K, Kaneko H, Takasaki Y, Ogawa H. DNA methylation: its contribution to systemic lupus erythematosus. Clin Exp Med. 2006 Oct;6(3):99-106.
- [17] Levy S, Sutton G, Ng PC, et al. The diploid genome sequence of an individual human. PLoS Biol 2007;5:e254.
- [18] Sugimura T, Ushijima T. Genetic and epigenetic alterations in carcinogenesis. Mutat Res 2000;462:235–46.
- [19] Kaneda A, Tsukamoto T, Takamura-Enya T, et al. Frequent hypomethylation in multiple promoter CpG islands is associated with global hypomethylation, but not with frequent promoter hypermethylation. Cancer Sci 2004;95:58–64.
- [20] Phokaew, C., Kowudtitham, S., Subbalekha, K., Shuangshoti, S., Mutirangura, A. LINE-1 methylation patterns of different loci in normal and cancerous cells. Nucleic Acids Res. 36 (Oct 2008): 5704-5712.
- [21] Reiss, D., Zhang, Y., Mager, D.L. Widely variable endogenous retroviral methylation levels in human placenta. Nucleic Acids Res. 35 (2007): 4743-4754.
- [22] Bannert N, Kurth R. Retroelements and the human genome: new perspectives on an old relation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2004;101(Suppl 2):14572–9.
- [23] Nakarin Kitkumthorn and Apiwat Mutirangura. Long interspersed nuclear element- 1 hypomethylation in cancer: biology and clinical applications. Clin Epigenet 2011; 2:315–330

- [24] Jordan, I.K., Rogozin, I.B., Glazko, G.V., Koonin, E.V. Origin of a substantial fraction of human regulatory sequences from transposable elements. Trends Genet. 19 (Feb 2003): 68-72.
- [25] C. Aporntewan, C. Phokaew, J. Piriyapongsa, C. Ittiwut, C. Ngamphiw, S. Tongsima, A. Mutirangura. Hypomethylation of intragenic LINE-1 represses transcription in cancer cells through AGO2. PLoS ONE. 6 (2011): e17934.
- [26] Cordaux, R., Batzer, M.A. The impact of retrotransposons on human genome evolution. Nat Rev Genet. 10 (Oct 2009): 691-703.
- [27] Chalitchagorn, K., et al. Distinctive pattern of LINE-1 methylation level in normal tissues and the association with carcinogenesis. Oncogene. 23 (Nov 18 2004): 8841-8846.
- [28] Migeon BR, Holland MM, Driscoll DJ, Robinson JC (1991) Programmed demethylation in CpG islands during human fetal development. Somat Cell Mol Genet 17(2):159–168
- [29] Kremenskoy M, Kremenska Y, Ohgane J, Hattori N, Tanaka S, Hashizume K, Shiota K (2003) Genome-wide analysis of DNA methylation status of CpG islands in embryoid bodies, teratomas, and fetuses. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 311(4):884–890.
- [30] Lutz D, Lowel M, Kroger H, Kubsch D, Uecker W (1972) In vivo methylation of DNA in different organs of rat at various ages. Z Naturforsch B 27(8):992– 995.
- [31] Gonzalo S (2010) Epigenetic alterations in aging. J Appl Physiol 109 (2):586–597.
- [32] Wang L, Wang F, Guan J, Le J, Wu L, Zou J, Zhao H, Pei L, Zheng X, Zhang T (2010) Relation between hypomethylation of long interspersed nucleotide elements and risk of neural tube defects. Am J Clin Nutr 91(5):1359–1367.

- [33] Bollati V, Fabris S, Pegoraro V, Ronchetti D, Mosca L, Deliliers GL, Motta V, Bertazzi PA, Baccarelli A, Neri A (2009) Differential repetitive DNA methylation in multiple myeloma molecular subgroups. Carcinogenesis 30(8):1330–1335.
- [34] Brunaud L, Alberto JM, Ayav A, Gerard P, Namour F, Antunes L, Braun M, Bronowicki JP, Bresler L, Gueant JL (2003) Effects of vitamin B12 and folate deficiencies on DNA methylation and carcinogenesis in rat liver. Clin Chem Lab Med 41(8):1012–1019.
- [35] Richardson B, Scheinbart L, Strahler J, Gross L, Hanash S, Johnson M (1990) Evidence for impaired T cell DNA methylation in systemic lupus erythematosus and rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 33(11):1665–1673.
- [36] Jintaridth, P., Mutirangura, A. Distinctive patterns of age-dependent hypomethylation in interspersed repetitive sequences. Physiol Genomics.
   41 (Feb 9 2010): 194-200.
- [37] Nakkuntod, J., Avihingsanon, Y., Mutirangura, A., Hirankarn, N. Hypomethylation of LINE-1 but not Alu in lymphocyte subsets of systemic lupus erythematosus patients. Clin Chim Acta. 412 (Jul 15 2011): 1457-1461.)
- [38] Karouzakis, E., and others. DNA hypomethylation in rheumatoid arthritis synovial fibroblasts. Arthritis Rheum 60, 12 (2009): 3613-3622.
- [39] Okada, M., et al. Role of DNA methylation in transcription of human endogenous retrovirus in the pathogenesis of systemic lupus erythematosus. J Rheumatol. 29 (Aug 2002): 1678-1682.
- [40] Piotrowski, P.C., Duriagin, S., Jagodzinski, P.P. Expression of human endogenous retrovirus clone 4-1 may correlate with blood plasma concentration of anti-U1 RNP and anti-Sm nuclear antibodies. Clin Rheumatol. 24 (Nov 2005): 620-624.

- [41] Ejtehadi, H.D., et al. The potential role of human endogenous retrovirus K10 in the pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis: a preliminary study. Ann Rheum Dis. 65 (May 2006): 612-616.
- [42] Gotzinger, N., Sauter, M., Roemer, K., Mueller-Lantzsch, N. Regulation of human endogenous retrovirus-K Gag expression in teratocarcinoma cell lines and human tumours. J Gen Virol. 77 (Dec 1996): 2983-2990.
- [43] Tighe PJ, Stevens SE, Dempsey S, Le Deist F, Rieux-Laucat F, Edgar JD. Inactivation of the Fas gene by Alu insertion: retrotransposition in an intron causing splicing variation and autoimmune lymphoproliferative syndrome. Genes Immun. 2002 Oct;3 Suppl 1:S66-70.
- [44] Wright HL, Moots RJ, Bucknall RC, Edwards SW. Neutrophil function in inflammation and inflammatory diseases. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2010 Sep;49(9):1618-31.
- [45] Courtney PA, Crockard AD, Williamson K, Irvine AE, Kennedy RJ, Bell AL. Increased apoptotic peripheral blood neutrophils in systemic lupus erythematosus: relations with disease activity, antibodies to double stranded DNA, and neutropenia. Ann Rheum Dis. 1999 May;58(5):309-14.
- [46] Ren Y, Tang J, Mok MY, Chan AW, Wu A, Lau CS. Increased apoptotic neutrophils and macrophages and impaired macrophage phagocytic clearance of apoptotic neutrophils in systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum. 2003 Oct;48(10):2888-97.
- [47] Midgley A, McLaren Z, Moots RJ, Edwards SW, Beresford MW. The role of neutrophil apoptosis in juvenile-onset systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum. 2009 Aug;60(8):2390-401.

- [48] Donnelly, S. et al. Impaired recognition of apoptotic neutrophils by the C1q/calreticulin and CD91 pathway in systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum. 54, 1543–1556 (2006)
- [49] Craft, J. Dissecting the immune cell mayhem that drives lupus pathogenesis. Sci. Transl. Med. 3, 73ps9 (2011)
- [50] Lande, R. et al. Neutrophils activate plasmacytoid dendritic cells by releasing self-DNA-peptide complexes in systemic lupus erythematosus. Sci. Transl. Med. 3, 73ra19 (2011)
- [51] Villanueva, E. et al. Netting neutrophils induce endothelial damage, infiltrate tissues, and expose immunostimulatory molecules in systemic lupus erythematosus. J. Immunol. 187,(2011):538–552
- [52] Garcia-Romo, G. S. et al. Netting neutrophils are major inducers of type I IFN production in pediatric systemic lupus erythematosus. Sci. Transl. Med. 3, 73ra20 (2011)
- [53] Bennett L, Palucka AK, Arce E, Cantrell V, Borvak J, Banchereau J, Pascual V. Interferon and granulopoiesis signatures in systemic lupus erythematosus blood. J Exp Med. 197,6(2003 Mar 17):711-23.
- [54] Jelinek J, Li J, Mnjoyan Z, Issa JP, Prchal JT, Afshar-Kharghan V. Epigenetic control of PRV-1 expression on neutrophils. Exp Hematol. 2007 Nov;35(11):1677-83.
- [55] Tan, E.M., et al. The 1982 revised criteria for the classification of systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum. 25 (Nov 1982): 1271-1277.
- [56] Hochberg, M.C. Updating the American College of Rheumatology revised criteria for the classification of systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum. 40 (Sep 1997): 1725.

- [57] Gladman, D.D., Ibanez, D., Urowitz, M.B. Systemic lupus erythematosus disease activity index 2000. J Rheumatol 29 (Feb 2002): 288-291.
- [58] Uribe, A.G., et al. The Systemic Lupus Activity Measure-revised, the Mexican Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Disease Activity Index (SLEDAI), and a modified SLEDAI-2K are adequate instruments to measure disease activity in systemic lupus erythematosus. J Rheumatol 31 (Oct 2004): 1934-1940.
- [59] Pons-Estel, G.J., Alarcon, G.S., Scofield, L., Reinlib, L., Cooper, G.S. Understanding the epidemiology and progression of systemic lupus erythematosus. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 39 (Feb 2010): 257-268.
- [60] Lau, C.S., Yin, G., Mok, M.Y. Ethnic and geographical differences in systemic lupus erythematosus: an overview. Lupus. 15 (2006): 715-719.
- [61] Mok CC, Lau CS. Lupus in Hong Kong Chinese. Lupus. 2003;12(9):717-22.
- [62] Cervera R, Khamashta MA, Font J, Sebastiani GD, Gil A, Lavilla P, et al. Systemic lupus erythematosus: clinical and immunologic patterns of disease expression in a cohort of 1,000 patients. The European Working Party on Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. Medicine. 1993 Mar;72(2):113-24.
- [63] Deesomchok U, Tumrasvin T. Clinical study of Thai patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. J Med Assoc Thai. 66,11(1983 Nov):680-7.
- [64] Alarcon-Segovia, D., et al. Familial aggregation of systemic lupus erythematosus, rheumatoid arthritis, and other autoimmune diseases in 1,177 lupus patients from the GLADEL cohort. Arthritis Rheum. 52 (Apr 2005): 1138-1147.
- [65] Deapen, D., et al. A revised estimate of twin concordance in systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum. 35 (Mar 1992): 311-318.

- [66] Block, S.R., Winfield, J.B., Lockshin, M.D., D'Angelo, W.A., Christian, C.L. Studies of twins with systemic lupus erythematosus. A review of the literature and presentation of 12 additional sets. Am J Med. 59 (Oct 1975): 533-552.
- [67] Wysenbeek, A.J., Block, D.A., Fries, J.F. Prevalence and expression of photosensitivity in systemic lupus erythematosus. Ann Rheum Dis. 48 (Jun 1989): 461-463.
- [68] Marzano, A.V., Vezzoli, P., Crosti, C. Drug-induced lupus: an update on its dermatologic aspects. Lupus. 18 (Oct 2009): 935-940.
- [69] Yung, R., et al. Mechanisms of drug-induced lupus. II. T cells overexpressing lymphocyte function-associated antigen 1 become autoreactive and cause a lupuslike disease in syngeneic mice. J Clin Invest. 97 (Jun 15 1996): 2866-2871.
- [70] Prete, P.E. The mechanism of action of L-canavanine in inducing autoimmune phenomena. Arthritis Rheum. 28 (Oct 1985): 1198-1200.
- [71] Costenbader, K.H., Karlson, E.W. Cigarette smoking and systemic lupus erythematosus: a smoking gun? Autoimmunity. 38 (Nov 2005): 541-547.
- [72] Kaufman, K.M., Kirby, M.Y., Harley, J.B., James, J.A. Peptide mimics of a major lupus epitope of SmB/B'. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 987 (Apr 2003): 215-229.
- [73] McClain, M.T., et al. Early events in lupus humoral autoimmunity suggest initiation through molecular mimicry. Nat Med. 11 (Jan 2005): 85-89.
- [74] Pender, M.P. Infection of autoreactive B lymphocytes with EBV, causing chronic autoimmune diseases. Trends Immunol. 24 (Nov 2003): 584-588.
- [75] Harley, J.B., Harley, I.T., Guthridge, J.M., James, J.A. The curiously suspicious: a role for Epstein-Barr virus in lupus. Lupus. 15 (2006): 768-777.

- [76] Kaplan MJ. Neutrophils in the pathogenesis and manifestations of SLE. Nat Rev Rheumatol. 2011 Sep 27;7(12):691-9
- [77] Kramers, C. et al. Anti-nucleosome antibodies complexed to nucleosomal antigens show anti-DNA reactivity and bind to rat glomerular basement membrane in vivo. J. Clin. Invest. 94(1994):568–577
- [78] Budman, D. R. & Steinberg, A. D. Hematologic aspects of systemic lupus erythematosus. Current concepts. Ann. Intern. Med. 86, 220–229 (1977)
- [79] Arenas, M., Abad, A., Valverde, V., Ferriz, P. & Pascual, R. Selective inhibition of granulopoiesis with severe neutropenia in systemic lupus erythematosus.
   Arthritis Rheum. 35, 979–980 (1992)
- [80] Guiducci, C. et al. Autoimmune skin inflammation is dependent on plasmacytoid dendritic cell activation by nucleic acids via TLR7 and TLR9. J. Exp. Med. 207(2010)2931–2942
- [81] Delcuve, G.P., and others. Epigenetic control. J Cell Physiol 219, 2 (2009): 243-250.
- [82] Feinberg, A.P., and others. DNA methylation and genomic imprinting: insights from cancer into epigenetic mechanisms. Semin Cancer Biol 12, 5 (2002): 389-398.
- [83] Renaudineau Y, Youinou P. Epigenetics and autoimmunity, with special emphasis on methylation. Keio J Med. 60,1(2011):10-6.
- [84] Takai, D., Jones, P.A. Comprehensive analysis of CpG islands in human chromosomes 21 and 22. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 99 (Mar 19 2002): 3740-3745.

- [85] Issa, J.P. CpG island methylator phenotype in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. 4 (Dec 2004): 988-993.
- [86] Chedin, F., Lieber, M.R., Hsieh, C.L. The DNA methyltransferase-like protein DNMT3L stimulates de novo methylation by Dnmt3a. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 99 (Dec 24 2002): 16916-16921.
- [87] Robertson, K.D., Wolffe, A.P. DNA methylation in health and disease. Nat Rev Genet. 1 (Oct 2000): 11-19.
- [88] Yung, R., Chang, S., Hemati, N., Johnson, K., Richardson, B. Mechanisms of druginduced lupus. IV. Comparison of procainamide and hydralazine with analogs in vitro and in vivo. Arthritis Rheum. 40 (Aug 1997): 1436-1443.
- [89] Richardson, B. Effect of an inhibitor of DNA methylation on T cells. II. 5-Azacytidine induces self-reactivity in antigen-specific T4+ cells. Hum Immunol. 17 (Dec 1986): 456-470.
- [90] Cornacchia, E., et al. Hydralazine and procainamide inhibit T cell DNA methylation and induce autoreactivity. J Immunol. 140 (Apr 1 1988): 2197-2200.
- [91] Richardson, B., et al. N-acetylprocainamide is a less potent inducer of T cell autoreactivity than procainamide. Arthritis Rheum. 31 (Aug 1988): 995-999.
- [92] Richardson, B., Powers, D., Hooper, F., Yung, R.L., O'Rourke, K. Lymphocyte function-associated antigen 1 overexpression and T cell autoreactivity. Arthritis Rheum. 37 (Sep 1994): 1363-1372.
- [93] Quddus, J., et al. Treating activated CD4+ T cells with either of two distinct DNA methyltransferase inhibitors, 5-azacytidine or procainamide, is sufficient to cause a lupus-like disease in syngeneic mice. J Clin Invest. 92 (Jul 1993): 38-53.

- [94] Lu, Q., et al. Demethylation of CD40LG on the inactive X in T cells from women with lupus. J Immunol. 179 (Nov 1 2007): 6352-6358.
- [95] Kazazian, H.H., Jr. Mobile elements: drivers of genome evolution. Science. 303 (Mar 12 2004): 1626-1632.
- [96] Carnell, A.N., and others. The long (LINEs) and the short (SINEs) of it: altered methylation as a precursor to toxicity. **Toxicol Sci** 75, 2 (2003): 229-235.
- [97] Wallace, N., and others. LINE-1 ORF1 protein enhances Alu SINE retrotransposition. **Gene** 419, 1-2 (2008): 1-6.
- [98] Deininger, P.L., and others. Mobile elements and mammalian genome evolution.Curr Opin Genet Dev 13, 6 (2003): 651-658.
- [99] Shedlock, A.M., and others. SINEs of speciation: tracking lineages with retroposons. Trends Ecol Evol 19, 10 (2004): 545-553.
- [100] Stoye, J.P. Endogenous retroviruses: still active after all these years? Curr Biol. 11 (Nov 13 2001): R914-916.
- [101] Buzdin, A. Human-specific endogenous retroviruses. ScientificWorldJournal. 7 (2007): 1848-1868.
- [102] Conley, A.B., Piriyapongsa, J., Jordan, I.K. Retroviral promoters in the human genome. **Bioinformatics**. 24 (Jul 15 2008): 1563-1567.
- [103] Ting, C.N., Rosenberg, M.P., Snow, C.M., Samuelson, L.C., Meisler, M.H. Endogenous retroviral sequences are required for tissue-specific expression of a human salivary amylase gene. Genes Dev. 6 (Aug 1992): 1457-1465.

- [104] Piriyapongsa, J., Polavarapu, N., Borodovsky, M., McDonald, J. Exonization of the LTR transposable elements in human genome. BMC Genomics. 8 (2007): 291.
- [105] Baust, C., Seifarth, W., Germaier, H., Hehlmann, R., Leib-Mosch, C. HERV-K-T47D-Related long terminal repeats mediate polyadenylation of cellular transcripts. Genomics. 66 (May 15 2000): 98-103.
- [106] Mager, D.L., Hunter, D.G., Schertzer, M., Freeman, J.D. Endogenous retroviruses provide the primary polyadenylation signal for two new human genes (HHLA2 and HHLA3). Genomics. 59 (Aug 1 1999): 255-263.
- [107] Subbalekha, K., and others. Detection of LINE-1s hypomethylation in oral rinses of oral squamous cell carcinoma patients. Oral Oncol 45, 2 (2009): 184-191.
- [108] Frigola, J., and others. Differential DNA hypermethylation and hypomethylation signatures in colorectal cancer. **Hum Mol Genet** 14, 2 (2005): 319-326.
- [109] Choi, I.S., and others. Hypomethylation of LINE-1 and Alu in well-differentiated neuroendocrine tumors (pancreatic endocrine tumors and carcinoid tumors). Mod Pathol 20, 7 (2007): 802-810.
- [110] Roman-Gomez, J., and others. Repetitive DNA hypomethylation in the advanced phase of chronic myeloid leukemia. Leuk Res 32, 3 (2008): 487-490.
- [111] Miller, S.A., Dykes, D.D., Polesky, H.F. A simple salting out procedure for extracting DNA from human nucleated cells. Nucleic Acids Res. 16 (Feb 11 1988): 1215.
- [112] Kazazian, H.H., Jr., and others. The impact of L1 retrotransposons on the human genome. Nat Genet 19, 1 (1998): 19-24.

- [113] Han, J.S., and others. Transcriptional disruption by the L1 retrotransposon and implications for mammalian transcriptomes. Nature 429, 6989 (2004): 268-274
- [114] Chen, J.M., and others. A systematic analysis of LINE-1 endonuclease dependent retrotranspositional events causing human genetic disease. Hum Genet 117, 5 (2005): 411-427.
- [115] Kitkumthorn, N., and others. LINE-1 methylation in the peripheral blood mononuclear cells of cancer patients. Clin Chim Acta, (2012)
- [116] Pobsook, T., Subbalekha, K., Sannikorn, P., Mutirangura, A. Improved measurement of LINE-1 sequence methylation for cancer detection. Clin Chim Acta. 412 (Jan 30 2011): 314-321.
- [117] Aporntewan, C., Mutirangura, A. Connection up- and down-regulation expression analysis of microarrays (CU-DREAM): a physiogenomic discovery tool. Asian Biomedicine. 5 (Apr 2011): 257-262.
- [118] Penzkofer, T., Dandekar, T., Zemojtel, T. L1Base: from functional annotation to prediction of active LINE-1 elements. Nucleic Acids Res. 33 (Jan 1 2005): D498-500.
- [119] Edgar, R., Domrachev, M., Lash, A.E. Gene Expression Omnibus: NCBI gene expression and hybridization array data repository. Nucleic Acids Res. 30 (Jan 1 2002): 207-210.
- [120]Barrett, T., et al. NCBI GEO: archive for high-throughput functional genomic data. Nucleic Acids Res. 37 (Jan 2009): D885-890.
- [121] Huang da, W., et al. The DAVID Gene Functional Classification Tool: a novel biological module-centric algorithm to functionally analyze large gene lists. Genome Biol. 8 (2007): R183.

- [122] Huang da, W., Sherman, B.T., Lempicki, R.A. Systematic and integrative analysis of large gene lists using DAVID bioinformatics resources. Nat Protoc. 4 (2009): 44-57.
- [123]Ogasawara, H., et al. Quantitative comparison of human endogenous retrovirus mRNA between SLE and rheumatoid arthritis. Lupus. 10 (2001): 517-518.
- [124] Crow, M.K. Long interspersed nuclear elements (LINE-1): potential triggers of systemic autoimmune disease. Autoimmunity. 43 (Feb 7-16.
- [125] Orrenius S, Zhivotovsky B, Nicotera P. Regulation of cell death: the calciumapoptosis link. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2003 Jul;4(7):552-65.
- [126] Oikonomopoulou K, Ricklin D, Ward PA, Lambris JD. Interactions between coagulation and complement--their role in inflammation. Semin Immunopathol. 2012 Jan;34(1):151-65.

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A

## **BUFFER AND REAGENT**

1. Nuclei Lysis Buffer (NLB)

1 M Tris (pH 8.0)	10	ml
5 M NaCl	0.5	ml
0.5 M EDTA (pH 8.0)	0.4	ml

Adjust volume to 100 ml with distilled water. Adjust pH to 7.2. Keep refrigerated. Shelf life is approximately 6 months.

2. 1 M Tris

Tris base	12.11	g
Distilled water	100	g

Adjust volume to 100 ml with distilled water. Adjust pH to 7.2. The solution was mixed and sterilizes by autoclaving at 121 °C for 15 minutes.

3. 5 M NaCl

NaCl	29.22	g
Distilled water	100	ml

Adjust volume to 100 ml with distilled water. The solution was mixed and sterilized by autoclaving at 121 °C for 15 minutes.

### 4. EDTA

EDTA	37.22	g
Distilled water	200	ml

Adjust volume to 200 ml with distilled water. The solution was mixed and sterilizes by autoclaving at 121 °C for 15 minutes. Keep refrigerated.

5. 5.3 M NaCl

NaCl	15.5	g
Distilled water	50	ml

Adjust volume to 50 ml with distilled water. The solution was mixed and sterilizes by autoclaving at 121 °C for 15 minutes. Keep refrigerated.

# 6. Proteinase K 10 mg/ml

Proteinase K	100	mg

Distilled water 10 ml

Mix the solution and store at -20 °C

#### 7. 10% SDS

SDS	10	g
Distilled water	100	ml

Adjust volume to 100 ml with distilled water. The solution was mixed and sterilizes by autoclaving at 121 °C for 15 minutes.

# 8. 10X Tris-boric acid buffer (TBE) 1000 ml

Tris base	108.0	g
Boric acid	55	g
0.5 m EDTA Ph 8.0	40	ml

Adjust volume to 1 liter with distilled water. The solution was mixed and sterilized by autoclaving at 121 °C for 15 min.

APPENDIX B

Table 1A: Up and down-regulated genes with L1s insertion group in the neutrophils of SLE patient

Gene symbol	Full Name
CD46	CD46 molecule, complement regulatory protein
CR1	complement component (3b/4b) receptor 1 (Knops blood group)
IL1RL2	interleukin 1 receptor-like 2
LYST	lysosomal trafficking regulator
AKAP13	A kinase (PRKA) anchor protein 13
CD38	CD38 molecule
GCH1	GTP cyclohydrolase 1
JAK2	Janus kinase 2
C6	complement component 6
PTEN	phosphatase and tensin homolog; phosphatase and tensin homolog
	pseudogene 1
STK3	serine/threonine kinase 3 (STE20 homolog, yeast)
VAV3	vav 3 guanine nucleotide exchange factor
ATP7B	ATPase, Cu++ transporting, beta polypeptide
CYSLTR1	cysteinyl leukotriene receptor 1
PLCE1	phospholipase C, epsilon 1
DST	dystonin
MYO5A	myosin VA (heavy chain 12, myoxin)
FAF1	Fas (TNFRSF6) associated factor 1
GAN	gigaxonin
PYGB	phosphorylase, glycogen; brain
PSMA1	proteasome (prosome, macropain) subunit, alpha type, 1
FANCC	Fanconi anemia, complementation group C

MICALCL	MICAL C-terminal like
DNAH9	dynein, axonemal, heavy chain 9
ABCC9	ATP-binding cassette, sub-family C (CFTR/MRP), member 9
CLEC5A	C-type lectin domain family 5, member A
DDX58	DEAD (Asp-Glu-Ala-Asp) box polypeptide 58
ITGB1	integrin, beta 1 (fibronectin receptor, beta polypeptide, antigen CD29
	includes MDF2, MSK12)
IL15	interleukin 15
PLD1	phospholipase D1, phosphatidylcholine-specific
RABGAP1L	RAB GTPase activating protein 1-like
RICTOR	RPTOR independent companion of MTOR, complex 2
CHRM2	cholinergic receptor, muscarinic 2
EPHB1	EPH receptor B1
EPS15	epidermal growth factor receptor pathway substrate 15
OAS3	2'-5'-oligoadenylate synthetase 3, 100kDa
AP3B1	adaptor-related protein complex 3, beta 1 subunit
HMCN1	hemicentin 1
TEDI	tissue factor pathway inhibitor (lipoprotein-associated coagulation
	inhibitor)
DSCAM	Down syndrome cell adhesion molecule
COL4A6	collagen, type IV, alpha 6
COL24A1	collagen, type XXIV, alpha 1
CNTNAP5	contactin associated protein-like 5
FNDC3A	fibronectin type III domain containing 3A
TEX11	testis expressed 11

## BIOGRAPHY

Mr. Paramate Promnarate was born on December13<sup>th</sup> in 1978 at Nakhonratchasima, Thailand. He graduated in the Bachelor degree of Science (Microbiology) from Ubonratchatani University in 2001. After graduated, he worked at the Armed forces Research Institute of Medical Sciences in the position of Laboratory Technician until the present. In 2012, he graduated in Master degree of Medical Sciences program, Faculty of Medicine Chulalongkorn University.